
National Park Authority  - 29 October 2019 1

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

Dear Member

A meeting of the NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY will be held in THE 
CONFERENCE ROOM, PLAS Y FFYNNON, CAMBRIAN WAY, BRECON 
LD3 7HP ON TUESDAY, 29TH OCTOBER, 2019 AT 11.30 AM OR ON THE 
RISING OF THE PLANNING, ACCESS AND RIGHTS OF WAY 
COMMITTEE, when your attendance is requested.

Yours sincerely

Julian Atkins

Chief Executive

PLEASE NOTE THAT THE NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY FILMS AND
WEBCASTS ALL ITS PUBLIC MEETINGS LIVE  - 

http://www.breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/ 

Fire Evacuation Advice

In the event of a fire, please exit the building via the main staircase,

and assemble in the car park at Assembly Point 3

1 CORRESPONDENCE 

To receive and consider the attached Schedule of Correspondence and any 
recommendations thereon (below).

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive any declarations of interest from Members relating to items on the 
agenda.  Members’ attention is drawn to the sheet attached to the attendance 

Public Document Pack

http://www.breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/


National Park Authority  - 29 October 2019 2

sheet and the need to record their declarations verbally and in writing, 
specifying the nature of the interest.

 
If Members have declared an interest in an item please ensure that you 
inform the Chair when you are leaving the room, so that this can be 
recorded in the minutes.
 

3 MINUTES (Pages 5 - 12)

To approve the minutes of the National Park Authority held on 3rd September 
2019 and authorise the Chair to sign them as a correct record.

4 PUBLIC SPEAKING 

To give opportunity for members of the public to address the meeting in 
accordance with the Authority’s Public Speaking Scheme.

 

5 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive a verbal report on meetings and events attended by the Chairman 
since the last meeting of the Authority.
 

6 CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive a report from the Chief Executive on meetings attended and 
progress made on Authority business since the last meeting of the Authority.
 

7 ACCESS TO INFORMATION 

RECOMMENDATION: to exclude the press and public from the 
meeting during consideration of item 8 in accordance with section 
100A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information 
as defined in paragraphs 12, 13, 14 and 15 of Schedule 12A to the 
Local Government Act 1972.

 
RECOMMENDATION: to exclude the press and public from the 
meeting during consideration of item 9 in accordance with section 
100A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, on the 



National Park Authority  - 29 October 2019 3

grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information 
as defined in paragraphs 12, 13 and 14 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972.

 
RECOMMENDATION: to exclude the press and public from the 
meeting during consideration of item 9 in accordance with section 
100A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended, on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information 
as defined in paragraphs 12, 13 and 14 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972.
 
 
 

A: EXEMPT ITEMS

8 FUTURE PRIORITIES & STRUCTURE PROPOSALS (Pages 13 - 52)

9 COMPOSITION OF THE NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY (Pages 53 - 
58)

10 REVIEW OF NEW GOVERNANCE STRUCTURES (Pages 59 - 78)

B: DECISION ITEM: CHIEF EXECUTIVE

11 ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 (Pages 79 - 102)

12 REVIEW OF THE LOCAL RESOLUTION PROTOCOL (Pages 103 - 
128)

13 PAY POLICY STATEMENT (Pages 129 - 154)

14 INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL FOR WALES DRAFT 
REPORT 2020/21 (Pages 155 - 164)

C: DECISION ITEM: PLANNING, ACCESS AND RIGHTS OF WAY

15 PLANNING PROTOCOL (Pages 165 - 186)

16 CONSULTATION DRAFT LLANGATTOCK CONSERVATION 



National Park Authority  - 29 October 2019 4

AREA REVIEW (Pages 187 - 220)

D: REPORTS FOR INFORMATION

17 MEMBER AND MEMBER CHAMPION REPORTS 

18 GIFTS & HOSPITALITY 

19 ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

SCHEDULE OF CORRESPONDENCE

1. To receive apologies for absence

2. Such other correspondence as, in the opinion of the Chairman, is of such urgency 
as to warrant consideration.

Any enquiries about this agenda should be addressed to Julia Gruffydd or Angharad 
Hawkes 01874624337



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 1 3 September 2019

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY NATIONAL 
PARK AUTHORITY HELD AT CONFERENCE ROOM, PLAS Y FFYNNON, 

CAMBRIAN WAY, BRECON LD3 7HP ON TUESDAY, 3RD SEPTEMBER, 2019

PRESENT:

Powys

Cllr Ratcliffe (Chair), Cllr M Jones, Cllr E Durrant, Cllr E Roderick, Cllr I McIntosh and Cllr S 
McNicholas

Carmarthenshire

Cllr K Madge

Merthyr Tydfil

Cllr M Colbran

Rhondda Cynon Taff

Cllr G Thomas

Torfaen

Cllr S Evans

Blaenau Gwent

Cllr J Hill

Members appointed by the Welsh Government

Mr Edward Evans (Deputy Chair), Mr Ian Rowat, Mr James Marsden, Ms Deborah Perkin, Mr Julian 
Stedman, Mr Christopher Coppock and Mrs Sue Holden

In Attendance

Sean O'Connor, Monitoring Officer
Stephen Gray, Delivery Director
Elaine Standen, Finance Manager
Mrs Julia Gruffydd, Democratic Services Manager
Mr Paul Funnell, IT and Systems Manager

Apologies
Cllr A Webb, Cllr M Feakins, Cllr A James and Grenville Ham

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 2 3 September 2019

Mr Julian Atkins (Chief Executive)

94/15 Correspondence 

The Chair welcomed all to the meeting and apologised for the later start due to the 
earlier meeting of the Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee which was longer 
than anticipated.  He welcomed the Delivery Director in the absence of the Chief 
Executive.
 
Apologies for absence were noted.
 

95/15 Declarations of Interest 

Mr J Stedman declared a personal, non-prejudicial interest in item 8 (Crickhowell 
Conservation Area) as his property was within the proposed extended boundary.
 
It was confirmed that local authority members did not need to declare an interest in items 
9 and 10.
 

96/15 Minutes 

RESOLVED: 
 

a)  To approve the minutes of the NPA held on 25th June 2019 
with the insertion of the apologies given by Cllr S Evans, 
and authorise the Chair to sign them as a true record;

 
b)  To approve the minutes of the AGM held on 28 June 

2019 and authorise the Chair to sign them as a true 
record.

 
c)  To approve the minutes of the EGM held on 30 July 2019 

and authorise the Chair to sign them as a true record.
 
 

97/15 Minutes of meeting Friday, 3 May 2019 of Audit and Scrutiny Committee 

RESOLVED:  To receive the minutes of the Audit and 
Scrutiny Committee held on 3 May 2019.

 

98/15 Public Speaking 

There were no requests to speak.
 

99/15 Chairman's Announcements 

Page 6



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 3 3 September 2019

The Chair advised of events he had attended on behalf of the Authority at the Royal 
Welsh Show in July and referred to the successful launch of the Nature Recovery Action 
Plan.  He paid tribute to Richard Booth of Hay on Wye, who had recently died and who 
had contributed so much to the success of the town.  He expressed sympathy to Mr 
Booth’s family on behalf of the Authority.
 
The Deputy Chair briefed members on the work being progressed with the graziers in 
the west of the Park through the Meithrin Mynydd Working Group.  The group would 
continue to work with the Welsh Government on future agri-environment schemes and 
the Biodiversity and Land Management Champion advised that discussions were also 
taking place about using demonstration areas within the Park.
 

100/15 Chief Executive's Announcements 

The Chief Executive had circulated his announcements to all members.
 

101/15 Crickhowell Conservation Area Review Consultation Draft 

 
Members considered a consultation draft presented by the Senior Heritage Officer.  The 
Heritage Champion welcomed the draft and the separation of Crickhowell and 
Llangattock in recognition that they were two different communities with distinct 
characteristics.  He encouraged the use of the document as a tool to complement the 
Place Planning work and conserve and enhance the heritage.  Officers confirmed that the 
conservation area process arose out of the place planning.
 
A member raised the issue of what period of architecture the conservation area was 
aiming to conserve, and highlighted the proposed omission of buildings from the 1960s 
while proposing to include much newer buildings.  He felt these were retrospective 
decisions.
 
The Biodiversity and Land Management Champion felt it was a very professional 
document and hoped that a similar one could be developed one day to demonstrate an 
equal understanding of the natural environment.
 

RESOLVED:  To approve the publication of the 
Crickhowell Conservation Area Appraisal (Consultation 
draft) for the purposes of an 8 week public consultation.

 

102/15 Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance 

Members considered amendments to the Supplementary Planning Guidance to reflect 
decisions made at the Authority meeting on 25 June 2019 in respect of commuted sums.
 

RESOLVED: to endorse the amended Appendix 6 of the 
enclosed guidance note (Enclosure 1) as Supplementary 

Page 7



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 4 3 September 2019

Planning Guidance to Policy 28 Affordable Housing of the 
Local Development Plan.

 

103/15 Affordable Housing Strategy 

Members considered an amended strategy which was intended to ensure that all money 
collected for the provision of affordable housing within the National Park area was spent 
in accordance with the greatest areas of housing need.
 
Several members queried the omission of some local authorities in terms of housing need 
across the Park.  Officers advised that while there was a need for housing in those 
constituent authorities, this was generally not the case for the small amounts of land 
within the Park, and data had been used from current waiting lists.  However, they were 
happy revisit this.
 
In response to a question about whether commuted sums could be spent just outside the 
Park boundary officers advised that it was preferable to spend the money in the area in 
which it had been generated within the Park.
 
A member pointed out the difference between low cost housing for rent and for purchase 
and officers advised that they were guided by Welsh Government definitions on this.  
Another member asked about prioritisation of spending and officers advised that there 
was no sales schedule and also that there were no settlements in the Torfaen part of the 
Park which would generate commuted sums.
 
Ms D Perkin left the meeting before completion of this item.
 

RESOLVED:
 
a) That members endorse the Affordable Housing 

Strategy (edition 3) for use in the processing of 
commuted sums collected by the Authority for the 
purposes of providing Affordable Housing.

 
b) That the previous edition of the Affordable Housing 

Strategy (edition 2, June 2018) be revoked.)
 

104/15 Member Champion Reports 

The Landscape and Biodiversity Champion reported on the recent Key Work Area 
Group meeting, where it had been agreed to bring forward a Position Statement on 
Climate Change for discussion at the Policy Forum Meeting on 27 September.  In addition 
officers were asked to bring forward a paper to a future meeting of the Policy Forum to 
agree an Authority view of the scope, objective, intended benefits and outcomes of the 
Authority’s  'Woodland Focus' (NRAP action 3.2), and how this would inform the 
National Park Management Plan review and actions required to secure delivery.
 

Page 8



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 5 3 September 2019

In order to address the twin challenges of climate change and biodiversity decline, the 
Authority needed to show leadership in three key areas:

1. Restore peatland ecosystem function
2. Regenerate, extend, create and re-connect native broadleaved woodlands

3.    Adopt and promote sustainable land management – which in practice means 
reducing land management intensity to deliver the first two priorities.

 
The Member Champion advised of meetings that had taken place with key partners to 
discuss the scope and opportunities for woodland regeneration and restoration in the 
Park and reported on a visit he had made last month with Simon Evans (CEO of Wye and 
Usk Foundation) to the eastern slopes of Sugar Loaf where what they saw confirmed the 
potential for natural regeneration of native broadleaved trees beneath bracken. He 
showed some slides to illustrate this.
 
The full report will be filed on the intranet.
 
The Volunteer Champion had spent a morning with volunteers working on restoring pine 
martens in the Talybont area.  He highlighted an event at Craig-y-nos Country Park on 7 
September which would provide an opportunity to talk to volunteers.
 

105/15 Gifts & Hospitality 

Members were reminded to declare any gifts and hospitality received.
 

106/15 Access to Information 

RESOLVED:
 
a)  To exclude the press and public from the meeting 

during consideration of item 16 in accordance with 
section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, as 
amended, on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraphs 12, 13 and 14 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972. 

 
b)  To exclude the press and public from the meeting 

during consideration of item 17 in accordance with 
section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, as 
amended, on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraphs 12 and 14 of Schedule 12A to the Local 
Government Act 1972.

 
 

107/15 Govilon Line 

Page 9



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 6 3 September 2019

Members considered proposals to resolve an encroachment onto Authority land.
 
Cllr M Jones and Cllr E Durrant left the meeting before the completion of this item.

 
RESOLVED:
 
a)  To authorise the Delivery Director to negotiate the 

sale of the freehold of land concerned and undertake all 
obligations to comply with any statutory requirement 
relating to disposal of land, in line with the terms and 
requirements outlined in this report; 

 
b)  In respect of future encroachments or requests for sale 

of small parts of land (not limited to the Govilon Line), 
to delegate to the Delivery Director the option to sell 
such freehold on the same basis (when value does not 
exceed £5k); 

 
c)   To authorise the Monitoring Officer to update the 

delegations and other parts of the Constitution to 
reflect recommendation (i) and (ii).

 

108/15 Proposed Redundancy of Retail Administration Assistant Post 

Members considered recommendations in respect of a post previously agreed by the 
Authority to be at risk.  They reiterated their view that these matters were operational 
and sat within the delegation to the Head of Paid Service and asked the Monitoring 
Officer to expedite this change to the Scheme of Delegation.
 

RESOLVED: 
 
a)  That Members endorse the operational decisions being 

taken in light of the consultation on the proposed 
redundancy to achieve the required budgetary savings 
without the need to make the post redundant. 

 
b)  That Members note that the required savings have 

been achieved by: a) Reducing the contracted hours for 
the post from 858 hours per annum to 550 hours per 
annum b) Changing from a weekly contract to an 
annual contract, so that these hours could be flexible 
with the seasonal demands of the role.

 

109/15 Any Other Business 

There was no further business.
 

Page 10



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 7 3 September 2019

Signed as a correct record
Chairman of the National Park Authority

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 13

Agenda Item 8
By virtue of paragraph(s) 12, 13, 14, 15 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 17

By virtue of paragraph(s) 12, 13, 14, 15 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 47

By virtue of paragraph(s) 12, 13, 14, 15 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 53

Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 12, 13, 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 59

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 12, 13, 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 67

By virtue of paragraph(s) 12, 13, 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Draft annual report 2018/19

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority

Date 29 Oct 2019

Report Author P Funnell

Job title Systems and Performance Manager

Contact Details paul.funnell@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To approve the annual report for publication

Single Integrated 
Assessment

n/a

List of  Enclosures Draft Annual Report 2018/19

Public Interest Test n/a

Recommendation(s) a) That members approve the annual report for 
publication, subject to any amendments they require 
and pending design work, with final sign off delegated 
to the CEO

1.1 Summary

The draft annual report for the Corporate Plan of 2018/19 is enclosed.  The report updates and 
completes the year-end performance report submitted to Audit and Scrutiny Committee in 
May. 

The PR and Communications officer has included a foreword on behalf of the Chair and is 
procuring the graphic design work for the final edition. 

Due to time constraints in the committee calendar any updates from Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee will be conveyed verbally at the meeting and a late paper will be circulated if 
necessary.

Page 79

Agenda Item 11



RECOMMENDATION(S):

a) That members approve the annual report for publication, subject to any 
amendments they require and pending design work, with final sign off 
delegated to the CEO

Page 80



 

 

 

 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

Annual Report on the 

Corporate Plan 2018/2019 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Draft 1 – 27/08/2019 

Page 81



 

1 | P a g e  
 

Contents 

1. Foreword…………………………………………………………………………………. 2 

2. Introduction………………………………………………………………………………. 3 

3. Reporting on Delivery……………………………………………………………………. 5 

4. Conclusion……………………………………………………………………………….. 13 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 82



 

2 | P a g e  
 

1. Foreword 

 

As incoming Chair, taking up my position in July of this year, it is encouraging to read this Annual 

Report for the last financial year – April 2018 to March  and see that we are making meaningful 

progress across our four priority areas – historic environment and cultural heritage, landscapes and 

biodiversity, recreation and communities and businesses.  

 

Despite the challenges faced by public sector organisations, Authority staff continue to deliver 

positive outcomes through partnerships working and joint funded projects which are bringing 

significant benefits to the National Park. 

 

We have successfully protected and enhanced two Scheduled Ancient Monumnets (SAM) at Fan Foel 

and 3 Wells and through proactive engagement, work has started at Pontyspigg, Crossways Cottages 

and Mamhiland Farmhouse. Additional works from that originally planned at the Gunpowder Works 

in Glynneath were made possible through shroud project management and cost savings.  

 

The Black Mountains Land Use Partnership has exceeding our expectations, despite being faced by 

several challenges this financial year. Huge strides have been made in delivering peat restoration, 

bracken control and ecological impact assessments. BMLUP is an excellent example of how 

partnership project is having positive impacts on communities and looking at new ways of working 

for sustainable land management. 

 

The Local Nature Partnership is established and a flagship Nature Recovery Action Plan published, 

underlined by the themes of SMNR and Nature Recovery in the Values and Resilient priority 

statement. This is one of the most important documents the National Park has been involved in 

producing with partners and with continued support from the Authority, research is underway to 

map the Park’s ecosystems to help us understand more about how they all connect. 

 

Aligning ourselves firmly with the delivery of the Welsh Government’s Wellbeing of Future 

Generations Act, we have engaged and encourage more young people to visit our National Park.  

Education officers continue to deliver exceptional learning experiences, working with 7013 young 

people and adults over 25,660.5 hours. Programmes were tailored around the Gunpowder Works, 

as well as the BMLUP, and 22% of education lessons were in Welsh. Fairplay funding has enabled us 

to engage with schools with a high percentage of free schools meals, making sure that the National 

Park can be accessed by everyone.  

 

The Active Ageing project and Small Steps have helped us make strides in delivering key health and 

well-being objectives. As did the Inspiroment project, which saw us working with 45 groups and 

several partners, including Gwalia Care and Support, Cardiff People First and Powys People First, 

developing bespoke walks and highlighting public transport routes into the National Park. 

 

We recently published and adopted the updated Rights of Way Improvement Plan to enhance and 

maintain the infrastructure of the National Park.  The Ambassador programme is continuing to go 

from strength-to-strength. With a target to train a further 150 ambassadors, this year 222 people 

engaged with the programme.  

 

This report recognises there are areas where we have not made the progress we would have liked. 

We have stated our reasons for this and how we have reprioritised work to meet this challenge. 

Thank you to all the volunteers, staff and partners who enable us to deliver these services and meet 

our corporate objectives, each and everyone plays an important role and I am humbled to the Chair 

of Brecon Beacons National Park Authority.  

 

Cllr. Gareth Ratcliffe 

Chair of the Authority 

Page 83



 

3 | P a g e  
 

2. Introduction 

 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority is please to publish its Annual Report on the delivery of the 

Corporate Plan for the year ending 31st March 2019. The Corporate Plan, which was published in 

April 2018, can be found at: 

 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority is designated under the Environment Act 1995. Section 61 

of this Act sets out the Park’s statutory purposes:  

This report considers the National Park Authority’s progress against the 4 Key Work Areas 

identified in the Corporate Plan; Heritage, Landscape and Biodiversity, Resilient 

Communities and Sustainable Economic Development. The report also sets out the 

Authority’s contribution to delivering the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act and discharging its 

general duty under the Welsh Government’s Local Government Measure.  

 

The Corporate Plan also presents the annual view of the Authority’s work in delivery against the 

National Park Management Plan 2015-2020, which sets out an ambitious programmes of work within 

a fifteen-year horizon. The Corporate Plan also sets out the annual work of the Authority itself. 

 

As the central reference point for all our strategic documents, The National Park Management 

Plan was produced in consultation with stakeholders, landowners and communities throughout the 

Park. The Plan was reviewed and an updated version was adopted in 2015, covering a 5 year period 

until 2020.  

In 2011, the Authority aligned its Corporate Goals and objectives, which set the context for the 

Corporate Plan, with the 6 Management Plan themes taken from the Management Plan as shown in 

Figure 1 below.  

 

First Purpose: To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural 

heritage of the National Parks; 

Second Purpose: To promote opportunities for the understanding and 

enjoyment of the special qualities by the public. 

 

In pursuit of the two statutory purposed, the Brecon Beacons National Park 

Authority has a duty to: 

 

‘seek to foster the economic and social wellbeing of local communities within the 

National Park by working closely with the agencies and local authorities responsible 

for these matters.’ 

 

Page 84



 

4 | P a g e  
 

Figure 1: Six Themes from the Management Plan 2015-2020 

The Management Plan is the single most important policy document for the National Park Authority, 

and is a plan for the whole National Park, not just for the Authority. In comparison, the Corporate 

Plan is specific to the performance of the Authority itself. The six themes from the Management Plan 

are encompassed by four Key Work Areas which the Corporate Plan used to identify well-being 

objectives. The four Key Work Areas and well-being objectives are:  

Key Work Area BBNPA Well Being Objective 

1. Heritage  

Brecon Beacons National Park has a strong 

historic and cultural heritage. By focussing 

on heritage the Authority will ensure direct 

contribution to, ‘A Wales of vibrant 

culture and thriving Welsh language.’ 

The Park’s historic environment & cultural heritage 

will be conserved, enhanced and promoted.  

2. Landscape and Biodiversity 

Conserving and enhancing the natural 

beauty and wildlife of the National Park 

is enshrined in the 1st Purpose of the 

Authority and contributes directly to a 

more ‘Resilient Wales’.  

The Authority will contribute to the 

maintenance and enhancement of landscapes 

and biodiversity through practical programmes 

and partnership work. 

3. Resilient Communities 

Creating resilient communities can 

improve feelings of well-being, reduce 

stress and can be inspirational. By 

promoting activity, encouraging 

volunteers and supporting those with 

physical, economic or other 

restrictions this objective contributes 

directly to, ‘A Wales of Cohesive 

Communities’, ‘A Healthier 

Wales’, and ‘A More Equal Wales’.  

The Authority will contribute to creating 

strong communities within the National Park 

and providing accessible physical activity for 

communities outside of the Park.  

Page 85



 

5 | P a g e  
 

4. Sustainable Economic 

Development  

Creating sustainable economic 

development links directly to ‘A 

Prosperous Wales’ and ‘A Resilient 

Wales’. Increased employment will 

support ‘A More Equal Wales’ and 

‘A Healthier Wales’.  

The Authority will contribute by encouraging 

the development of new and existing businesses 

and increasing the number of jobs while 

promoting sustainable use of natural resources.  

Figure 2: BBNPA four Key Work Areas and Well Being Objectives 

 

2.8 You can find out more information about the National Park Authority and download this 

report from our website at www.beacons-npa.gov.uk or you can ask for a paper copy by 

ringing 01874 624437. 

 

2.9 The Brecon Beacons National Park Authority is required to comply with certain standards in 

relation to the Welsh Language, provided through a Compliance Notice prepared by The 

Welsh Language Commissioner. The Standards and accompanying Brecon Beacons National 

Park Authority reports can be found on our web site at the following address: 

https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/our-policies-and-

procedures/welsh-language-scheme/ 

 

2.10 Other information that the Authority puts in the public domain as a matter of 

course is summarised in its Publication Scheme which can be viewed at: 

https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/our-policies-and-

procedures/publication-scheme/ 

2.11 If you would like any additional information on the Corporate Plan or would like to 

suggest areas of work where we require improvement, please write to Mr. Julian Atkins, 

Chief Executive, Brecon Beacons National Park Authority, Plas y Ffynnon, Cambrian Way, 

Brecon, LD3 7HP, Powys or email improvements@beacons-npa.gov.uk. 

 

 

1. Reporting on Delivery 

 

Our performance against the four Key Work Areas is set out below. Some activities span 

multiple reporting/financial years and where this is the case the target will generally be to 

progress the activity to a certain point within the year. The actual results will show whether 

we have achieved what we set out to do and these use a colour coding system as follows: 

 

Green: achieved or exceeded target 

Amber: fell just short of target 

Red: fell considerably short of target 

Page 86

file:///C:/Users/clarep/Downloads/www.beacons-npa.gov.uk
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/our-policies-and-procedures/welsh-language-scheme/
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/our-policies-and-procedures/welsh-language-scheme/
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/our-policies-and-procedures/publication-scheme/
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/our-policies-and-procedures/publication-scheme/
mailto:improvements@beacons-npa.gov.uk


 

3.1 Heritage 

Brecon Beacons National Park has a strong historic and cultural heritage. By focussing on heritage the Authority will ensure direct contribution to, ‘A Wales of vibrant 

culture and thriving Welsh language.’ 

What we set out to achieve What we achieved  

Well-being 

Objective/Action 

Target 

2018/2019 

Actual 

2018/2019 

Commentary Target 

2017/2018 

Actual 

2017/2018 

We will protect and enhance the 

Park’s archaeology by undertaking 

positive conservation measure on at 

least 2 Scheduled Ancient 

Monuments 

2 2 Conservation work has been undertaken on 2 SAMs: 

- Fan Foel 

- 3 Wells Cairn 

2 3 

We will protect the Park’s most at 

risk listed buildings through proactive 

work on at least 2 buildings on the 

Buildings at Risk Register and 

continue to review the Register for 

opportunities to undertake positive 

conservation measures 

3 3 Work has been undertaken in relation to: 

- Pontyspigg 

- Crossways Cottages 

- Mamhiland Farmhouse 

3 6 

We will complete an appraisal for 

Crickhowell and Llangattock 

Conservation Area 

100% 40% Work had commenced on raising Community 

Awareness of the project, with substantive work being 

completed on the appraisal during Q2 and Q3 

2018/2019. There has since been a lack of progress on 

this Action due to issues with staff resourcing. The 

issue has now been resolved, however the action 

currently remains outstanding, with completion 

anticipated for Q2 2019/20. The remainder of the 

work will be undertaken in Q3 and Q4.  

n/a n/a 

We will commence an appraisal of 

the Monmouthshire and Brecon 

Canal to assess its potential for a 

2 

 

1 It was hoped the appraisal would have commenced 

during 2018, however due to staffing issues (as 

highlighted above) it is now anticipated that the initial 

n/a n/a 

P
age 87



 

1 | P a g e  
 

Conservation Area, and will review 

the potential for further conservation 

areas within the Park Area 

- Appraisal of 

Monmouthsh

ire and 

Brecon 

Canal 

- Review 

potential for 

further 

conservation 

areas 

appraisal work will begin in Q4 of 2019/2020 and will 

be completed during 2020/2021.  

 

Investigations were undertaken and completed to 

review the potential for further conservation areas 

within the Park. The results identified that there is no 

capacity within the communities identified to 

undertake this work. 

We will proactively promote the 

Park’s heritage through awareness 

and engagement activities 

  The Education Service (as described below 3.3) 

delivers heritage content in all delivery. In this 

reporting year both the Black Mountains Landuse 

Partnership and Gunpowder Works programmes have 

delivered extensively on heritage. 

n/a n/a 

Undertake consolidation of ‘at risk’ 

structures on the Gunpowder 

Works site 

100% 100% All works were completed on time and signed off by 

Q3 2018/2019. Savings were made throughout the 

project which allowed additional works to be 

undertaken.   

n/a n/a 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.2 Landscape and Biodiversity  

 

Conserving and enhancing the natural beauty and wildlife of the National Park is enshrined in the 1st Purpose of the Authority and contributes 

directly to a more ‘Resilient Wales’. 

 

P
age 88



 

2 | P a g e  
 

What we set out to achieve What we achieved  

Well-being 

Objective/Action 

Target 

2018/2019 

Actual 

2018/2019 

Commentary Target 

2017/2018 

Actual 

2017/2018 

Undertake tree safety felling around 

the Gunpowder Works structures 

and replant with native species mix 

Works to 

be 

completed 

by end of 

2019 

50% - On 

track 

NRW consents and feedback caused various delays and 

amendments to this action, meaning that much less 

timber could be extracted that originally envisaged and 

agreed with NRW. NRWs request for replanting from 

very local seed, plus the need to stack wood and brash 

in specific places led to additional difficulties in 

developing the proposals. NRW consents were 

eventually granted for limited felling to waste and 

replanting. It is planned that 2019 will be the main year 

for completion of felling and woodland improvement 

works.  

n/a n/a 

Reducing land-based carbon 

emissions and restoring upland 

habitats: 

- Undertake peat restoration 

and path construction 

projects in the Black 

Mountains (Black 

Mountains Land Use 

Partnership), Central 

Beacons and Great Forest 

(Waun Fignen Felen AMP6 

Project) to achieve 

biodiversity conservation 

and landscape restoration.  

- Provide advisory support 

to the Welsh Peatlands 

Project Steering Group and 

Project Management Team 

Complete 100% 

Complete 

Progress this year includes bracken control: ecological 

impact assessments (in-house), and commissioning 

contractors and aerial spraying, nudging the Partnership 

to lead on this element. Footpath and peatland 

protection works continue. 

Bracken works completed Q2 including Bracken 

surveys, all other works such as peat restoration and 

footpath construction works completed on time. 

Partnership and BBNPA have experience major issues 

and payment delays from Welsh Governments Rural 

Payments Agency leading to significant delay on the 

Project’s re-evaluation and subsequent delays in paying 

the last quarters invoices which was only resolved in 

the last week of the financial year. This has caused a 

4: 

- Black 

Mountains 

- Central 

Beacons 

- Grent Forest 

- Mynydd Du 

3 

P
age 89



 

3 | P a g e  
 

backlog of scheduling and commissioning works for the 

2019 season.  

Waterfall Country – Service Level 

Agreement with NRW 

- Continue to implement the 

SLA and undertake 

improvements to Gwaun 

Hepste Car Park, 

maintaining and developing 

links to the local 

community and its business.  

Deliver 

SLA 

SLA 

delivered 

Waterfall Country SLA forms part of a much larger 

process now underway to improve visitor mgmt and 

experiences, focusing particularly on vehicle and parking 

management and anti-social behaviour. 

 

WG funded projects at Gwaun Hepste car park, Cwm 

Porth and Hendre Bolon are progressing. 

 

Whilst we are always able to fulfil the SLA (provided we 

still have a large enough Wardens Team), the main 

solutions sought for managing Waterfall Country 

require higher level, strategic input and investment from 

the 3 UAs (Powys, RCT, NPT) and NRW, who are the 

main landowners.  RT has submitted a project 

development bid to ENRAW to develop a Partnership 

Plan.  

 

Our staff and capital input to Waterfall Country again 

significantly exceed the income we retain from car park 

receipts under the terms of the SLA.   

 

RT is leading on this relationship mgmt; JL is leading on 

the "gateway," traffic and car parking management, 

which are the main issues going forwards.   

Recent 2019 WG unfunded capital and revenue grants 

are extremely helpful but risk the BBNPA retaining 

ownership of the issues when the larger organisations 

have most of the power and responsibility. 

2: 

- Implement 

SLA 

- Car Park 

Improvements 

2 

P
age 90



 

4 | P a g e  
 

Black Mountains – Black Mountains 

Land Use Partnership Sustainable 

Management Scheme  

- Continue to implement the 

programme of actions 

approved by Welsh 

Government for which we 

are the lead partner during 

this financial year 

Implement 

programme 

of actions 

for the 

financial 

year 

Programme 

of actions 

implemente

d 

Progress this year includes bracken control: ecological 

impact assessments (in-house), and commissioning 

contractors and aerial spraying, nudging the Partnership 

to lead on this element.  

Footpath and peatland protection works continue. 

Bracken works completed Q2 including Bracken 

surveys, all other works such as peat restoration and 

footpath construction works completed on time. 

Partnership and BBNPA have experience major issues 

and payment delays from Welsh Governments Rural 

Payments Agency leading to significant delay on the 

Project’s re-evaluation and subsequent delays in paying 

the last quarters invoices which was only resolved in 

the last week of the financial year. This has caused a 

backlog of scheduling and commissioning works for the 

2019 season. 

Implement 

actions 

scheduled for 

financial year 

Actions 

implemented 

and report 

submitted 

Research Programme and Strategic 

Research Partnerships 

- Work with partners to 

develop the programme 

and prepare for the 2019 

joint National Parks 

research conference  

Progress Progressed Review meeting held with CU, who has extended 

invitation to join the HEI Research Platform (CU, WG, 

NRW, CRT), for a £15k fee.  Research requires better 

co-ordination, i.e., dedicated manager or director, 

which might perhaps be supported through the 

Research Platform. 

Meeting held with the Manager for the Environment 

Platform Wales, steering by CU for NRW and WG, 

involving all Wales' universities.  Aims to establish 

overarching research platform to inform Area 

Statements, SoNaRR etc.Workshop held with NRW 

and University of Reading on connectivity and 

ecosystems mapping; further work to be developed. 

Co-host Event Complete 

P
age 91



 

5 | P a g e  
 

A range of undergraduate and post-graduate projects 

underway, including several species- and habitat-based 

dissertations.   

Revised MoU with Cardiff University is ready for 

signing, stronger input from Reading and Swansea 

Universities (no partnership agreements), and Swansea 

University now provides the Peatlands Research 

Platform within the Wales Peatlands Project (SMS); is 

looking for peatland-based 'research stations' here; 

advice on this has been provided.   

Attended the inaugural "Research Sandpit" of the 

Environment Platform Wales.  

Nature Recovery Action Plan 

(NRAP) 

- Finalise objectives and a 

programme for the NRAP 

and establish a Local 

Nature Partnership to aid 

its delivery  

- Launch and develop the 

Invasive Non-Native 

Species Project for the Usk 

and Tawe 

3 

- Finalise 

objectives and 

a programme 

- Establish a 

Local Nature 

Partnership 

- Launch and 

develop 

Project 

3 Objectives for NRAP revised and simplified, sent out 

for wider consultation. NRAP will be a central plan for 

the Authority, underlined by the lead themes of SMNR 

and nature recovery in the Valued and Resilient priority 

statement. October meeting with LNP finalised their 

objectives and priority, NRAP final drafting follows this.  

 

One-to-one meetings held with Local Nature 

Partnership partners; WG grant for implementation 

available (£50k); alignment with NPMP and Area 

Statements currently being sought. 

ENRAW project development grant submitted for a 

"Vital Signs" project in partnership with WTSWW and 

BIS, seeking funding for a full survey and monitoring 

programme; WG will determine yes or no by end 

February 2019. 

All the programmed actions for developing and finalising 

the detail and familiarising Members with its purpose 

Finalise 

Agreement 

Behind 

schedule 

P
age 92



 

6 | P a g e  
 

and content, have been completed.  Additional read-

across achieved for Sustainability Appraisal of the NPMP 

and LDP, successful bid to the ENRAW programme for 

a development grant to write a full grant proposal for 

"Vital Signs," and a further £50k provided by 2019 WG 

unfunded pressures grant.  Ecology Team is working 

with researchers to build the mapping models for the 

Park's ecosystems and connectivity, and all three NPAs 

are in early talks with the ERAMMP team to see what 

use might be made of this programme. 

 

 

1.3 Resilient Communities  

 

BBNPA can support both conventional and innovative approaches to living sustainably in and benefiting from the National Park. By promoting 

activity, encouraging volunteers and supporting those with physical, economic or other restrictions this objective contributes directly to a ‘A 

Wales of Cohesive Communities’, a ‘Healthier Wales’ and a ‘More Equal Wales’.  

 

What we set out to achieve What we achieved  

Well-being 

Objective/Action 

Target 

2018/2019 

Actual 

2018/201

9 

Commentary Target 

2017/2018 

Actual 

2017/2018 

Deliver 12,500 hours of participant 

learning (5000 learners x 2.5 hours) 
12,500 hours/ 

5000 learners x 

2.5 hours 

25,660.5 

hours 

(7013 

learners) 

In 2018-19 the National Park education service 

worked directly in/around the park with 7013 

learners (young people through to adults). Visits 

ranged from introducing the National Park with a 

walk, min-beast hunts, river studies, through to 

ecological studies, glaciation studies, a celebration of 

Welsh Culture at Christmas and project based 

12,500 hours 27,628 hours 

P
age 93



 

7 | P a g e  
 

programmes in the Gunpowder works and Black 

Mountains. The learning sessions support the goals 

of the curriculum in Wales and of the exam boards, 

as well as the goals of the Wellbeing and Future 

Generations Act for Wales.  

Of these 7013, 22% (1571) undertook their learning 

experience through the medium of Welsh. 

 

Provide opportunities for 

disadvantaged groups to visit the park 

through the Fairplay programmes (6 

groups a year from schools with 20% 

or more pupils on Free School 

Meals) 

6 groups 6 groups The Fairplay programme provides funds for bus 

transport to the National Park for schools with a 

high % of pupils in receipt of free school meals.  

The project runs across the school year so the 

majority of visits in the academic year occur in the 

new Financial Year. Reduced numbers in this year 

reflects some schools being re-directed to the 

funded Gunpowder Works educations programme. 

6 11 

Deliver the Sustainable Development 

Fund to support community 

resilience, attracting match funding at 

a ratio in excess of 

1(£SDF):2(£match-funding) 

1:2 1:3.7 The Fund awarded new grants to 27 projects in 

2018/19.  In total the Fund paid out £227,215 in the 

year to 34 projects. 30% of projects were primarily 

aimed at conserving or enhancing the natural beauty, 

wildlife and cultural heritage of the Park.41% focused 

on promoting opportunities for the understanding 

and enjoyment of the special qualities.  29% sought 

to foster the economic and social well-being of local 

communities. 

 

1:2 1:2.54 

Deliver a Volunteer Development 

programme to support the delivery 

of in excess of 10,000 volunteer 

10,000 hours 9884 

hours 

This financial year was very slightly below target due 

to staff resourcing. The hours volunteered represent 

10,000 8,567.50 

P
age 94



 

8 | P a g e  
 

hours of Brecon Beacons National 

Park Authority activity in 2018/2019 
a substantial contribution of delivery on projects 

which could not otherwise have been achieved. 

Work with 4 communities to 

develop and deliver Place Plans and 

actions in them 

4 Communities  

and Place Plans: 

- Brecon 

- Crickhowell 

- Hay on Wye 

- Talgarth 

4 Place 

Plans are 

in 

progress 

and on 

track. 

Work has been undertaken with Talgarth on a 

Residents survey. 

Data input has been completed, and analysis and 

interpretation started with Brecon following the 

Brecon 20:20 Resident’s Survey. 

4 4 

Deliver Health and Wellbeing actions 

in line with the National Parks Wales 

Health and Wellbeing position 

statement 

Deliver actions Actions 

delivered 

The Active Ageing Project started in January 2019, 

making links to local social prescribers and other 

groups supporting older people, and identifying 

tailored routes in preparation for starting walks in 

spring. The Ystradgynlais group was first to establish. 

The Small Steps action research project with 

secondary care mental health patients similarly 

started activities in spring, following preparatory 

work with Powys Teaching Health Board and 

baseline assessment with participants. 

4: 

- Active 

Ageing 

- Geocaching 

- Inspironment 

Health and 

Well-being 

Position 

Statement 

4 

Deliver the Inspironment Programme 

working with partners to enable 

socially excluded groups to meet 

their aims through accessing the 

National Park (10 groups) 

10 45 Over the year BBNPA worked with groups to 

develop programmes of activity to meet their aims 

through accessing and enjoying the National Park. 

These included Cardiff People First, Powys People 

First, Gwalia. A total of 45 visits were made 

 

10 17 

P
age 95



 

9 | P a g e  
 

Support 50 community resilience 

projects with funding and 

development officer advice and 

assistance  

50 48 A wide range of projects supported with community 

development and funding advice. From Healthy Lives, 

to Wildflower Verges, and from Virtual tours to 

composting toilets. 

50 71 

Deliver learning experiences telling 

the story of the Black Mountains to 

12 groups (250 participants) 

250 346 Target exceeded - The Black Mountains Land Use 

Partnership learning programme worked with 346 

young people. Adverse weather conditions in Q4 

2018/2019 meant at least one group was carried 

over into next financial period.  

n/a n/a 

Deliver learning experiences to 12 

groups (250 participants) telling the 

story of the Gunpowder works and 

reconnecting the community with the 

site 

250 439 Target exceeded – The Gunpowder Works 

Education Programme concluded with 439 young 

people visiting the site and learning about the 

project, their local history/culture and the work 

we’re undertaking. The project also supported the 

curriculum in Wales as well as the goals of the 

Wellbeing and Future Generations Act for Wales. 

n/a n/a 

Undertake community outreach 

work to ensure local residents have 

the opportunity to interact with the 

Gunpowder Works and its 

development  

Undertake 

community 

outreach 

11 groups 

engaged 

with 

 

Interacted 

with 1253 

people in 

local area 

Over summer 2018 community engagement with a 

range of local excluded groups enabled 11 groups to 

enjoy a guided visit to Gunpowder works and 

understand more about the area’s heritage.  

In this financial year the Gunpowder Works project 

has interacted with 1253 people in the local area, 

561 of these under the age of 16. 495 school 

children have had a unique visit to the site with the 

Authority’s education team and 16 local community 

groups have has facilitated visits with the Sustainable 

Communities Team. The community have also had 

the opportunity to engage with the project with two 

open days, a community archaeology programme, 

plus walk and talks with specialists.  

  

P
age 96



 

10 | P a g e  
 

Develop the ‘Miles Without Stiles’ 

programme 
  Awaiting information on this action  n/a n/a 

Maintain and improve access to the 

countryside; best practice in upland 

and lowland path surveys, 

management and restoration: 

- Publish the review of the 

Rights of Way 

Improvement Plan 

Publish the 

ROWIP review 

On Track Full statutory public consultation has been 

completed, with 10 consultation responses. A report 

will be taken to LAF in April 2019, with final 

adoption scheduled for Policy Forum prior to 

adoption by the NPA. The final version will be fully 

bilingual.  

2: 

- ROWIP 

Delegations 

- 4 ROWIP 

Projects 

 

2  (additional 

path 

improvement 

over and 

above the  

identified 

target) 

 

1.4 Sustainable Economic Development  

 

Creating sustainable economic development links directly to a ’Prosperous Wales’ and ‘Resilient Wales’. Increased employment will support ‘A More 

Equal Wales’ and a ‘Healthier Wales’ The special qualities of the area bring additional value for businesses from tourism and other sectors. BBNPA 

works collaboratively with partners from different sectors to help realise this sustainably. 

 

 

What we set out to achieve What we achieved  

Well-being 

Objective/Action 

Target 

2018/2019 

Actual 

2018/2019 

Commentary Target 

2017/2018 

Actual 

2017/2018 

Continue to play a lead role within 

the Brecon Beacons Sustainable 

Destination Partnership and will 

ensure the Forum meets at least one, 

the Board at least twice and the 

Delivery Group at least 4 times over 

Ongoing lead 

role and 

meetings 

On Track New meeting structures are working well. One 

board meeting and one Destination Delivery Group 

meeting held, plus Day2Stay workshop. Annual 

Tourism Conference attended by 85 businesses.  

n/a n/a 

P
age 97



 

11 | P a g e  
 

the year together with the Annual 

Tourism Conference 

Continue to engage businesses and 

communities in National Park 

objectives through our Ambassadors 

programme and business training 

events by retaining at least 150 

Ambassadors, holding more than 15 

business focussed training days and 

directly engaging with over 500 

business and community contacts 

over the year 

- 150 

Ambassadors 

- 15 business 

focussed 

training days 

- 500 

business and 

community 

contacts 

engaged. 

222 

Ambassadors

. 

252 business 

trained or 

attended 

conferences 

 

The annual Ambassador event was organised with 

support from the Tourism Growth Officer and a 

team of five Ambassadors. Two Ambassadors 

teamed up to offer a foraging and sustainable 

gardening courses for the local community and 

visitors. One Ambassador was inspired to write and 

publish a book “Nature of the Brecon Beacons” –A 

beginner’s guide to the upland environment, 

received extremely well by fellow Ambassadors and 

visitors. 

 

150 

Ambassadors 

15 Business 

training days 

500 Business 

and 

Community 

contacts 

engaged 

 

193 

Ambassadors 

Full series of 

Business 

Training 

Courses 

completed 

including  277 

Business 

Trained or 

attended 

conference s 

and had over 

800 

business/com

munity 

contacts 

Works with partners to review, 

forward plan and resource our 

cooperative marketing effort 

including; website, social media, press 

relations, destination print and brand 

rollout 

Review and 

resource 

marketing 

effort 

On track New Destination website procured, work to 

commence in 2019/2020 financial year.  

n/a n/a 

Work with partners to launch the 

Year of the Sea, undertake work on 

the VW funded Wales Way project 

and plan for the Year of Discovery 

Launch 

Project 

Project 

launched 

Project launched in Q1 with Minister for Tourism. 

Promotion with social media continues.  

n/a n/a 

P
age 98



 

12 | P a g e  
 

Implement the Atlantic Geoparks 

Interreg funded project, achieving all 

KPI targets 

Implementati

on of project 

Progressing 

on track 

Implementation is progressing well, with excellent 

social media and PR outcomes. ICT project has been 

agreed, work on marketing continues successfully. 

Awaiting Interreg approval of proposed changes. 

Work on core project, particularly PR and social 

media has progressed significantly.  

n/a n/a 

Implement the first phase of the 

Visitor Management project focusing 

on visitors and their dogs, the 

Waterfalls and the Black Mountains  

Implement first 

phase of the 

Visitor 

Management 

project 

Behind 

schedule 

Visitors and their dogs A Dogs code has been 

agreed and placed on website, funding has been 

agreed for the programme of works.  

 

Waterfalls 

Initial quick wins were effective and largely 

implemented.  Next steps are to prepare action plan 

for implementation next financial year.  Partnership 

Board held their first meeting which a good 

response.  Grants to develop partnership and Plan 

for the future have been approved. Waterfalls Car 

Parking Plan has been completed and approved by 

NPA. 

 

Black Mountains 

Work was undertaken by BMLUP project to develop 

and implement a visitor survey using volunteers, 

however this was disrupted by reduced capacity, 

reducing volunteer recruitment. The lesson is that 

we did not get approval early enough to put a 

coordinated programme in place. We will re-plan 

this work over the winter for next financial year. 

  

P
age 99



 

13 | P a g e  
 

Work on dog management developing with BMLUP 

however large scale interventions abandoned for the 

present due to lack of resources. 

 

 

 

Support the Dark Skies initiative 

through high quality marketing and 

business engagement to maintain our 

Dark Sky Reserve status 

Deliver high 

quality 

marketing 

and 

engagement 

Marketing 

and 

engagement 

delivered 

The Authority continues to promote our dark sky 

status through regular social media posts. Each post 

is averaging a reach of around 3,500 from a wide 

demographic. The main Brecon Beacons Facebook 

page now has 25,000 followers and our Twitter feed 

has 10,000 followers. In addition to this we run two 

Instagram pages which regularly feature the dark 

skies. The Authority has also won £77,300 in funding 

to significantly update its dark sky image library and 

create new videos to showcase this special feature 

of the National Park. Part of this funding will also 

deliver a digital marketing campaign aimed at 

encouraging day visitors to stay in the National Park 

overnight, contributing more to the rural economy 

during shoulder months.  

Run 6 Dark 

Sky events 

6 

Maintain activity in the UNESCO 

Global Geopark including the 

development of Craig y Nos as the 

new UNESCO Global Geopark Hub. 

We will engage with at least 5 local 

communities through Geopark 

Engage with 

5 

communities 

Behind 

schedule 

Development of ideas for the Geopark hub included 

engagement with Criw Graggy and Craig y Nos 

Country Park Volunteers.  Target of 5 engagements 

exceeded.  Hub development postponed until 

2019/20 for capacity and prioritisation reasons. 

Develop Hub Delayed 

Complete delivery of a Heritage 

Lottery Fund Skills in Action Training 

Project, which will provide 12 

traineeships – 6 of them in BBNPA 

12 

Traineeships 

12- 6 in 

BBNPA 

The 4th cohort of Trainees successfully completed 

their traineeships in summer 2018. An external 

evaluation was completed and reported “the 

traineeship has enabled a pathway into employment 

12 

Traineeships 

12 Completed 

P
age 100



 

14 | P a g e  
 

in the conservation sector for many trainees, most 

of whom were unemployed or employed in a 

different sector before.” 

Deliver Skills project for NEET young 

people in partnership with Princes 

Trust Cymru supported by Arwain 

LEADER funding 

Deliver Skills 

Project 

Project 

delivered 

During 2018 Cohorts 2 and 3 of the programme 

were delivered, each including a taster day, 2 week 

programme for 12 young people and paid 3 month 

traineeship for 6 with a range of accredited training 

e.g. Brushcutter and work experience alongside NPA 

staff. Young people progressed in the main into 

employment or further education. The Trainees 

welcomed HRH The Prince of Wales to part of their 

programme at the National Park Visitor Centre in 

July. 

n/a 

 

n/a 

 

 

 

2. Conclusion 

 

4.1 We have continued to make good progress in all four of the Key Work Areas.  

 

4.2 Any issues that have arisen with delivery are relatively minor and within the normal bounds of operational activity, allowing them to be dealt with 

using conventional management controls such as reprioritisation or the reallocation of resources. 

 

4.3 This is the third year that the Authority has published an Annual Report rather than part 2 of its Business Improvement Plan.  This current report 

represents something of a transitional arrangement towards a new way of reporting the Authority’s activities, framed within the overall strategy of 

the National Park Management Plan and aimed at delivering the Wellbeing of Future Generations Goals, as shown in the appendices to the 

Corporate Plan, through working in accord with the Sustainable Development principles. 

 

 

P
age 101



 

15 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

Statement of Responsibility 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority is responsible for preparing the 

Improvement Plan, the information and the assessments laid out within it and the estimates 

on which they are based. 

The Authority is also responsible for managing its performance improvements and the 

internal control measures from which the information and assessment in this Plan have been 

produced. 

The Authority is satisfied that the contents of the Plan are in all material respects accurate 

and complete, realistic and achievable within the resources available. 

 

P
age 102



Review of Local Resolution Protocol

Name of 
Committee

National Park Authority

Date 29 October 2019

Report Author Sean O’Connor

Job title Monitoring Officer

Contact Details Sean.oconnor@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To recommend changes to the Authority’s procedures when 
dealing with a complaint raised against a Member of the 
Authority.

Single Integrated 
Assessment

Improvement in procedures for Governance

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1 – Local Resolution Protocol – Complaints 
against Members of the Authority under the Code of 
Conduct

Public Interest Test N/A

Recommendation(s) a) to remove the current ‘Procedures for Dealing 
with Alleged Breaches of a Local Protocol’ and 
‘Local Resolution Protocol’ within the Authority’s 
constitution and adopt the revised ‘Local 
Resolution Protocol – Complaints against 
Members of the Authority under the Code of 
Conduct’;

b) to authorise the Monitoring Officer to make any 
consequential changes to other documents within 
the Constitution to ensure editorial consistency 
with the new Protocol; and

c) to delegate to the Monitoring Officer the ability 
to make changes at any time to the ‘Guidance’ 
sections of the Protocol in consultation with Chair 
of the Governance and Member Development 
Working Group.

Page 103

Agenda Item 12



1.1 Introduction or Background

Standards in Wales
The ethical framework regime for local government in Wales originates from Part III of the 
Local Government Act 2000. In 2008 a model Code of Conduct was introduced that provided 
a nationwide set of standards of conduct for the Members of local government including the 
National Parks.

The Public Services Ombudsman for Wales (PSOW) is the body empowered to investigate 
serious complaints with respect to members and a suspected breach of the code may be 
reported a local authorities Standards Committee or the Adjudication Panel for Wales.

The PSOW recognises (and to a degree is promoting) that local authorities have introduced 
local resolution procedures to consider lower level member against member complaints. These 
typically concern breaches of the Code in relation to demonstrating a lack of respect and 
consideration for others. The PSOW considers it is more appropriate that such complaints 
should be resolved locally in order to speed up the complaints process. 

Standards in the National Park
The National Park has adopted a local resolution procedure for low level complaints. Currently 
there are two separate documents ‘Procedures for Dealing with Alleged Breaches of a Local 
Protocol’ and ‘Local Resolution Protocol’. These documents set out 3 different processes 
depending whether the complainant is a member of the public, an officer or another Member.

1.2 Proposals

Current Local Resolution Protocol
A review of the current procedures revealed that certain elements were unconventional and 
did not follow established practice. 

In particular, the procedures are not consistent. There are separate documents containing 3 
different processes to resolve a complaint. Each process is different, the guidance offered is not 
always consistent and no guidance was offered in respect to many common issues faced when 
the Authority considers a complaint. This results in confusion for the reader when determining 
exactly which process should be followed.

The roles the parties play in the procedure is inconsistent. The procedures appears to place 
responsibility of the conduct of investigation of the complaint on the Chairman of the Authority 
(in one procedure) but on the Chief Executive on another. Part way through a procedure, the 
roles change from investigators to decision makers whilst simultaneously providing the role of 
supporting a member. This is considered to place a disproportionate burden on the Chairman 

Page 104



and the Chief Executive who are not likely to have to performed this role on a regular basis, 
and are unlikely to be familiar with this type of investigation. 

Initial Consultation
The Monitoring Officer sought guidance from the Governance and Member Development 
Working Group on the issues and the possible changes to the Local Resolution Protocol. This 
concluded that the revised Local Resolution Protocol should include the following features: 

(a) the Authority wished to continue to operate a Local Resolution Protocol;
(b) the Protocol should be available to member complainants but also to officers and the 

public;
(c) it should be simplified to a single procedure;
(d) the roles and responsibilities of the Chairman of the Authority and Chief Executive 

should be in a supporting capacity of the member or officer;
(e) the process would be conducted by the Monitoring Officer;
(f) the decision makers will be the Monitoring Officer (in consultation with Chair of the 

Standards Committee) initially, then the Standards Committee and the National Park 
Authority; and

(g) a range of possible sanctions should be specified.

Wider consultation
A copy the proposed Local Resolution Protocol was provided to all members of the Authority 
on the 13 September 2019. Feedback and comments have been received and incorporated into 
the revised Local Resolution Protocol. However, the main features, roles and stages have not 
changed. 

Revised Local Resolution Protocol
The revised Local Resolution Protocol is attached as Enclosure 1. This includes the features set 
out above but also includes:

a. Initial consideration stage – the process is to be ‘front loaded’ to ensure that only valid 
complaints will be considered by the Authority. Those are where a breach of the code 
can be identified from the facts and that evidence is provided to support such. The 
Monitoring Officer shall request such information and clarify with the complaints where 
it is not obvious from the facts provided. The Monitoring Officer (in consultation with 
the Chair of the Standards Committee) shall also consider whether it is in the public 
interest to consider such a complaint. For example, if a member has already apologised 
for the alleged complaint then there may not be a public interest.

b. Hearing procedures for the Standards Committee – this now provides a clear 
framework how the hearing will be conducted. The process is sufficiently flexible to 
enable the Committee to lead the hearing in a procedurally fair manner without it 
becoming administratively burdensome.  

Page 105



c. Guidance – commentary has been added to provide guidance members and 
complainants on the common issues encountered when considering complaints against 
members. Guidance has been provided on matters such as transparency, anonymous 
complaints, varying complaints, confidentiality, previous decisions, the burden of proof 
and the standard of evidence.

d. Appeals – a member or public complainant cannot appeal a decision under the Local 
Resolution Protocol but they may appeal to the PSOW who may consider the 
complaint. An officer complainant has rights of appeal under the Authority’s grievance 
policy and where a grievance is raised against a member then this will be considered 
under the Local Resolution Protocol and include the right to appeal.

 
e. Sanctions – In the case where a breach of the Code has occurred and the Standards 

Committee recommends a sanction should be imposed, then the National Park 
Authority can impose sanctions ranging from a public apology to reporting the matter to 
the PSOW.

1.3 Implications

The revised Local Resolution Protocol provides a single point of reference, guidance and 
process for members, officers and the public in respect to complaints. The revised Local 
Resolution Protocol is considered to remove the uncertainty and inconsistency of the previous 
protocols.

1.4 Risk

As the Authority has 2 current protocols in place with 3 different processes, this uncertainty 
and inconsistency will remain. Unless a complainant is offered a genuine and authentic local 
process then it is likely that they may simply refer a complaint to the PSOW. This will involve 
significant time commitments by all parties and the opportunity to gain a better outcome using 
the local process may be missed. The revised Local Resolution Protocol addresses these issues.

1.5 Conclusion

The revised Local Resolution Protocol will provide great certainty and guidance for both the 
members but also officers and the public. The revised Local Resolution Protocol demonstrates 
to the public that an effective complaints process is in place and that their complaints will be 
considered diligently and with the necessary probity.  

Page 106



RECOMMENDATION(S):

a) to remove the current ‘Procedures for Dealing with Alleged Breaches of a 
Local Protocol’ and ‘Local Resolution Protocol’ within the Authority’s 
constitution and adopt the revised ‘Local Resolution Protocol – Complaints 
against Members of the Authority under the Code of Conduct’;

b) to authorise the Monitoring Officer to make any consequential changes to 
other documents with the Constitution to ensure editorial consistency with 
the new Protocol; and

c) to delegate to the Monitoring Officer the ability to make changes at any time 
to the ‘Guidance’ sections of the Protocol in consultation with Chair of the 
Governance and Member Development Working Group.

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority  
 

Local Resolution Protocol

Complaints against Members of the 
Authority under the Code of Conduct

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Adopted [ ] October 2019 

 

Page 109



A. Introduction 
What does this Protocol do?

A1 This Local Resolution Protocol (‘the protocol’) sets out the process which will be followed 
in the local determination of allegations of misconduct made against a Member. The 
purpose of the protocol is to ensure that every effort is made to deal with the complaint 
as smoothly as possible and to ensure that complaints are dealt with in accordance with 
the relevant legislation and within the agreed timescales. All allegations will be dealt with 
objectively, fairly and consistently.  The Monitoring Officer will also have regard to what 
is in the public interest and the Authority’s fiduciary duty to the tax payers. 

 
Who may use this protocol?

A2 This protocol may be used by a member of staff of the Authority, another member of the 
Authority or member of the public. This protocol does not prevent a person raising a 
complaint from resolving the matter informally with the member directly. 

 
How to use this Protocol 

A3 This protocol consists of 7 Stages. Depending on its nature, the complaint can be resolved 
informally at any stage up to the Stage 3. Once Stage 3 has been reached then in all 
circumstances a meeting of Standards Committee will be called (Stage 5).  

A4 In respect of each stage where action by, or a decision of the Authority is required, the 
Protocol uses the following terms:

- Action – this describes the matter to be considered or action to be taken at this stage.
- Decision Maker – this is the individual or panel required to make a decision or perform 

an action. This will also state with whom the decision maker will consult (if required). 
The decision is at the sole discretion of the decision maker.

- Guidance – this provides assistance to the subject member, complainant and the 
decision maker

A5 References
Within this protocol references to the Monitoring Officer “MO”, “Democratic Services 
Manager” or “Chair” of the Standards Committee also refers to their duly appointed 
representative(s). The person making the complaint is referred to as the complainant and the 
member being complained about is referred to as the subject member. 

Guidance
A6 Guidance is provided as part of each Stage of this Protocol but the guidance applies where 

applicable to any further Stage. The MO shall determine the application of guidance to any 
Stage.

A7 A flowchart summarising the procedure that will be followed is attached at to the Appendix to 
this Protocol.

 

Page 110



B. Stage 1 – Acceptance or Rejection of Complaint 

Action: To determine whether the Authority will accept the complaint as a 
valid under the protocol

Decision 
Maker

Monitoring Officer

Guidance

B1 All complaints shall be received by the MO who has authority to take an initial independent 
decision on whether a complaint is valid and should be accepted by the Authority.

B2 The MO shall decide whether:
- the complaint should be rejected; or
- the complainant should be referred to the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales 

(PSOW); or
- the complaint should be accepted

B3 All complaints must be submitted in writing and electronic submissions are acceptable. 
Once the MO has received a complaint they shall acknowledged it within five (5) working 
days of receipt. 
 

B4 The MO shall reject a complaint and the complainant will be informed that no further action 
will be taken if:   

 
- it is not a complaint against one or more named subject members of the Authority (rather 

than against an officer or the Authority in general); 
- the subject member is not in office at the time of the alleged conduct; 
- the complaint, if proven, would clearly NOT be a breach of the Code.
- the complainant fails to provide enough information/evidence for the MO to reach a 

conclusion. In particular the complainant must:
 identify the relevant part of the Code of Conduct that the subject member is 

alleged to have breached;
 describe the action, the words stated and the manner in which the words/act was 

performed; and
 on the facts presented the acts must on a balance of probabilities amount to a 

prima facie breach of the Code.
- the complaint is anonymous or there is no connection between the subject member or 

the complainant (for example, the complainant is complaining on behalf of a third party or 
there is no clear evidential connection with the subject member or the Authority);

- the subject member is no longer a member of the Authority (although if they are a 
member of another authority the MO could refer the complaint to that authority); 

- the complaint has already been the subject of an investigation or other action relating to 
the Code of Conduct by the Authority or the complaint has been the subject of an 
investigation by other regulatory authorities; 

Page 111



- the complaint is about something that happened so long ago that there would be little 
public benefit in taking action now (except serious complaints where the complainant will 
be referred to PSOW or where there is a pattern of similar behaviours); 

- the complaint is too trivial to warrant further action; 
- the complaint appears to be simply malicious, politically motivated or tit-for-tat; 
- the complainant appears to be submitting vexatious, persistent or prolific complaints and 

where such is raised by an officer or a member then the MO will refer this to the Chief 
Executive or Standards Committee as appropriate. 

B5 If sufficient information hasn’t been provided then the MO will request additional information 
and request clarification on any issues and shall state the date by which the information must 
be provided. Where information is not provided by the date specified then the MO shall refuse 
the complaint.  

B6 The MO shall reject a complaint and the complainant will be informed that they should refer 
the matter to the PSOW or Police if the complaint is sufficiently serious (being a single act or 
repeated acts) so to require reporting the matter to the PSOW or the Police. In the alternative, 
the MO may refer the matter to the PSOW or Police.
 

C. Stage 2 – Initial Assessment of Complaint 

Action: Decision on the appropriate manner that the Authority will resolve 
the complaint under the Protocol

Decision 
Maker

Monitoring Officer (in consultation with Chair of Standards 
Committee).

Guidance

C1 A copy of the complaint will be sent to the subject member for written comment. The subject 
member will have the opportunity to submit any additional information/evidence to support 
their submission. This can include written witness statements. The MO will state the timescale 
required for the subject member to respond.

C2 The MO will also determine what simple or straightforward additional information or 
investigations could be made at this stage. This may include checking corroborative minutes and 
agendas of meetings, information on websites, emails etc. or conversations with officers that 
will assist the initial assessment process. This isn’t intended to be comprehensive but light touch 
and with minimal use of time and resources.

C3 The MO shall aim to make an assessment within 25 working days of acceptance of the complaint 
of the appropriate manner to resolve the complaint. The MO will make a decision on the 
complaint but will consult the Chairperson of the Standards Committee (‘the Chairperson’). 
The MO will decide on one of the following four outcomes: 

 

Page 112



- no further action will be taken; 
- the matter will be resolved informally;
- the matter will be referred to the PSOW or the Police when serious misconduct or a 

criminal offence is suspected; 
- the complaint will be referred to the Standards Committee (with or without further 

investigation by the MO or an investigator). 
  

D. Stage 3A – No Further Action 

Action: To perform all actions to complete ‘No Further Action’ 

Decision 
Maker

Monitoring Officer (in consultation with Chair of Standards 
Committee).

Guidance

D1 The subject member and the complainant will be notified of the outcome of the Initial 
Assessment. There is no right of appeal of the decision. If the complainant disagrees with this 
outcome they can decide (and in some circumstances may be advised to) to submit their 
complaint to the PSOW.

D2 No Further Action may be the decision where the MO has decided that there may be substance 
to the complaint but where (i) the subject member has already taken the action that the MO 
would determine as being the appropriate sanction (for example, having already apologised) (ii) 
there is not sufficient evidence to establish whether there is direct evidence that a breach 
actually took place or (iii) there is no public interest in taking the complaint any further.

D3 The MO shall have a wide discretion as to whether a complaint should be considered under the 
public interest. The factors that the MO will consider is:

(i) The potential seriousness of the breach;
(ii) Whether the member sought personal gain for themselves or another person at the 

public expense
(iii) Whether there is a misuse of a position of trust or any authority and caused harm to a 

person
(iv) whether the breach was motivated by any form of discrimination against the victim’s 

ethnic or national origin, gender, disability, age, religion or belief, sexual orientation or 
gender identity

(v) whether there is evidence of previous similar behaviour on the part of the member 
(even where no further action was determined)

(vi) whether the investigation or referral to the Standards Committee is required to 
maintain public confidence in elected members of the Authority

(i) whether investigation or referral to a Standards Committee is a proportionate 
response, namely, whether it is likely that the breach would lead to a sanction being 
applied to the member (taking into account of the outcomes of previous cases 
considered by the Standards Committee, and whether the use of resources in carrying 

Page 113



out an investigation or hearing by the Standards Committee would be regarded as 
excessive when weighed against any likely sanction.

E. Stage 3B – Informal Resolution 

Action: To perform all actions to complete ‘Informal Resolution’

Decision 
Maker

Monitoring Officer (in consultation with Chair of Standards 
Committee).

Guidance

E1 The MO may decide that the complaint can be resolved informally by action by the subject 
member where the MO considers that the subject member is at fault but the fault can be 
remedied by further action. The range of possible actions that the MO will decide is not 
exhaustive and will be appropriate to the nature of the complaint. Such actions include:

- a letter of apology being issued by the subject member to the complainant;
- training of the subject member; 
- a meeting with the complainant and the MO for the subject member to listen to the 

complainant and understand the reasoning why the complaint was raised. 

E2 Informal resolution will only be offered where the MO considers it appropriate (such when 
there has been a minor or technical breach/or where such can be mitigated by actions) and 
depending the action, the subject member and complainant agree to take part. 

E3 Where the actions or outcomes have been completed by the subject member to the satisfaction 
of the MO, then the MO will consider the matter was resolved and no further action shall be 
taken.

     
E4 If other action is determined as appropriate and the subject member declines to comply, then 

the matter will be referred to the Standards Committee.

E5 If other action is determined as appropriate and the complainant declines to comply with 
the action or does not accept the action as appropriate, then no further action will be 
taken. The complainant will be advised by the MO that if they remain unhappy then they 
should refer the matter to the PSOW.  

F.  Stage 3C – Referred to the PSOW or the Police 

Action: To perform all actions to refer to the PSOW or Police

Page 114



Decision 
Maker

Monitoring Officer (in consultation with Chair of Standards 
Committee).

Guidance

F1 If following the Stage 2 initial assessment, the MO decides that the matter needs to be 
referred to the PSOW or the Police both the subject member and the complainant will be 
informed.

 

F2 The MO will pass to the PSOW or Police any relevant evidence relating to the allegations 
received which disclose behaviour that may constitute serious misconduct or a criminal 
offence, whether under the ethical standards provisions of the Local Government Act 2000 
or otherwise. 

 

F3 The protocol will be put on hold until such time as the PSOW or Police have completed 
their investigations and receipt of confirmation of completion the matter (including any 
information or directions received from PSOW or Police) will be referred to the Standards 
Committee.

 

G. Stage 3D – Referral to Standards Committee

Action: To perform all actions to refer to the Standards Committee

Decision 
Maker

Monitoring Officer (in consultation with Chair of Standards 
Committee).

Guidance

G1 If, following the Stage 2 initial assessment, the MO, decides that if the allegations were 
substantiated they may constitute a breach of the Code of Conduct then the matter should 
be referred to the Standards Committee. 

 

G2 The MO in consultation with the Chairperson, shall determine the necessary investigation 
required to verify the allegations. The MO will undertake or procure the investigation. 

 

G4 Once the investigation is concluded the MO will convene a meeting of the Standards 
Committee and shall give the complainant and the subject member at least 20 working 
days’ notice.

   

Page 115



H. Stage 4 - Arranging the Meeting of the Standards Committee 

Action: To arrange the Meeting of the Standards Committee

Decision 
Maker

Democratic Services Manager  

Guidance

H1 Unless determined otherwise under paragraph I2, all matters considered by the Standards 
Committee under this protocol shall be exempt under Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and the press, public and members who are not subject members, 
witnesses or the Standards Committee shall be excluded. 

H2 At least 10 working days prior to the meeting the Democratic Services Manager will issue 
the paperwork for the Standards Committee. The paperwork will be sent to each member 
of the Standards Committee, to the subject member, the complainant and to the MO. The 
paperwork will include the agenda for the meeting of the Committee, a copy of any 
investigator’s report (whether performed by the MO or a third party) and copies of any 
written statements.  

H3 The report will not contain any recommendation but may provide guidance on decisions 
or law in similar matters. The report will clear set out the allegations, the breach of the 
Code reported and the decision required from the Committee. 

H4 The meeting of the Standards Committee shall be held as soon as practicably possible after 
issue of the agenda and no sooner than 10 working days after issue of the agenda. The 
Democratic Services Manager shall arrange a time and date for the Standard’s Committee 
to meet and consider the matter.  

 
H5 At least 5 working days before the date of the meeting of the Standards Committee, the 

Democratic Services Manager shall notify the subject member, complainant and any relevant 
witnesses of the date, time and place of the meeting and the membership of the Standards 
Committee at which the matter will be considered.  

 
H6 The Democratic Services Manager shall request that any copy documentation is kept 

confidential and all members and officers of the Authority shall maintain such 
confidentiality. Where any third party does not comply with any request for confidentiality 
then the MO will advise the parties as to the further right of disclosure in relation to the 
paperwork.    

 
H7 All paperwork associated with the Standards Committee meeting will be subject to the 

Authority’s Access to Information Procedure Rules save that no other member of the 
Authority shall receive the agenda.

Page 116



H8 The Democratic Services Manager shall use reasonable endeavours to arrange a date which 
is convenient to the Standards Committee, subject member, complainant and MO provided 
that where the subject member or complainant are unable to attend within 20 working 
days of the date the Democratic Services Manager intends to the issue the agenda then the 
meeting shall go ahead in their absence. 

H9 Once the Democratic Services Manager fixes the date of the meeting, if the subject 
member, complainant or any witness fails to attend (or indicates they will not attend) the 
meeting then the meeting shall proceed in their absence.  

 

I. Stage 5 – Standards Committee Meeting 

Action: To hear meeting of the Standards Committee and determine 
outcome to the complaint

Decision 
Maker

Standards Committee (in consultation with the Monitoring Officer)

Guidance

I1 Attendance of the Subject Member and Complainant 
 

I1.1 The subject member may be accompanied at the meeting by one member colleague. An officer 
may be accompanied by one officer colleague. Any third party can be accompanied by one 
colleague. All attendance shall be at their own expense.  The agenda shall not be sent to persons 
accompanying the parties.

I1.2 Any party opting to be accompanied at the meeting must notify the Democratic Services 
Manager of their intention to do so and identity of the person at least three clear working days 
before the meeting.

I1.3 If the subject member or complainant are not present, unless the Committee is satisfied that 
there is sufficient reason for their failure to attend, then the Committee shall proceed in their 
absence. Where the Committee proceeds in their absence, the procedure for the meeting shall 
be adapted as necessary.
 

I2 Order of business 
 

The order of business at the meeting shall be as follows: 
 

I2.1 elect a person to preside if the Chairperson or Vice-Chairperson are not present;
I2.2 receive apologies for the inability to attend the meeting;
I2.3 approve the Minutes of the last meeting; 

Page 117



I2.4 receive any Declarations of Interest from Members;
I2.5 consideration as to whether to adjourn or to proceed in the absence of the subject member 

or complainant;  
I2.6 introduction of the Committee, MO (or their representative), independent investigator (if 

instructed), the Democratic Services Manager (or their representative), the subject member, 
complainant and any other witnesses present;

I2.7 any representation from the MO (or his representative) and/or the subject member as to 
reasons why the Committee should not exclude the press and public and a determination as to 
whether to exclude the press and public. Where the Committee decides that it will not exclude 
press and public, the Democratic Services Manager shall at this point provide copies of the 
agenda and reports to any members of the press and public who are present; 

I2.8 the Committee shall determine whether all witnesses need to attend to give oral evidence and 
the timing of such attendance; and    

I2.9 consideration of the complaints in the order in which they have been received. 
 

I3 Speaking 
 

I3.1 The order of speaking shall be as follows
(i) Complainant (or their representative) shall introduce their complaint. 
(ii) the Complainant (or their representative) shall call their witnesses to give evidence
(iii) the subject member (or their representative) shall introduce their rebuttal of the 

complaint
(iv) the subject member (or their representative) shall call their witness to give evidence
(v) the complainant(or their representative) will sum up their complaint
(vi) the subject member (or their representative) will sum their position.

I3.2 In respect to each speaker in I3.1 the Chairperson of the Committee shall allow questions 
in such order as the Chairperson considers appropriate from:

(i) the complainant (or their representative)
(ii) the subject member (or their representative)
(iii) the Committee
(iv) the MO

I3.3 The Chairperson shall determine the order, manner and time necessary to enable orderly 
conduct of the meeting with the aim that the meeting is conducted in a fair manner within 
the time and resources available. Such discretion will include deciding if:
(i) a further right of reply is required from a party;
(ii) whether questions by the subject member or complainant (or by their 

representatives) of each other should be put directly or by directing appropriate 
questions to through the Chairperson);

(iii) limiting the number of witnesses to be heard by the Committee to only those 
considered critical to the substance of the complaint; or

(iv) deciding when a person shall be heard (or not heard) further. 

Page 118



I3.4 The Committee shall permit a representative to present the case and ask questions on behalf 
of the subject member or the complainant but any questions put shall be answered only by 
the subject member or the complainant.  

I3.5 At the conclusion of the presentation by the last speaker the Chairperson will close this part 
of the meeting and request the subject member, representatives, witnesses and complainant 
leave the meeting. The Chairperson will inform the parties that the Committee will convene 
in private with the MO and Democratic Services Manager. The Committee will then decide 
in the private session to either:

(i) Adjourn the meeting if further investigation or information is required.
(ii) Make a decision on the facts presented at the meeting.

I3.6 The Chairperson will notify the parties that the MO shall communicate the parties of the 
decision within 5 working days of the meeting (unless an adjournment is requested). 

 

I4  Making a Decision 
 
I4.1 In the private session, the Chairperson will ask the MO whether there was any matter raised 

during the course of meeting which was not addressed in the report or requires further 
investigation. 

I4.2 The Committee will decide whether to adjourn to enable the MO to investigate and report on 
that new matter and/or to secure the attendance of witnesses as to the new matter. 

I4.3 If no adjournment is requested, then the MO will sum up the evidence presented in respect to 
denying or supporting the alleged breach of the Code of Conduct and if upheld then the 
appropriate recommended form any sanction should take.

I4.4 The Committee shall then make a decision whether the subject member has breached the 
relevant Code of Conduct, and the reasons for that decision. 

I4.5 If the subject member is in breach of the Code of Conduct, the Committee shall further decide 
whether there shall be:

(i) letter of censure but no further sanction;
(ii) letter of censure and reference to the National Park Authority with or without further 

sanction recommendations.

I4.6 No further sanction shall be appropriate where there is a minor or incidental breach of the 
Code of Conduct, or where the member has demonstrated to the Committee acceptance and 
regret as to the breach, or where the member has performed an act of mitigation (such as an 
apology) prior to the decision of the Committee. 

Page 119



I4.7 The Committee may refer to previous decisions of the MO or the Committee when making its 
decision and the recommendation to the National Park Authority. 

J. Stage 6 – Reporting Decision of Standards Committee 

Action: To communicate the decision of the Standards Committee to the 
parties and (where appropriate) the National Park Authority

Decision 
Maker

Standards Committee

Guidance

J1 As soon as reasonably practicable (usually within 24 hours) after the Committee has made 
its determination in respect of an allegation, the MO shall take reasonable steps to notify the 
subject member and complainant of the decision only.

J2 As soon as reasonably practicable (usually within five working days) after the Committee has 
made its determination in respect of an allegation, the MO shall take reasonable steps to give 
written notice of that determination and the reasons for such determination to the 
complainant and subject member.  

 
J3 Where the Committee determines that there has not been a breach of the Code of Conduct 

the notice shall state that the Committee found that the subject member concerned had not 
failed to comply with the code of conduct of the Authority and shall give its reasons for 
reaching that finding.  

 
J4 Where the Committee determines that there has been a breach of the Code of Conduct 

the notice shall: 
 

(i) state that the Committee found that the subject member concerned had failed to 
comply with the Code of Conduct; 

(ii) specify the details of the failure; 
(iii) give reasons for the decision reached by the Committee; and 
(iv) specify a sanction in K2 will be recommended to the National Park Authority. 

 
  

K. Stage 7 – National Park Authority to determine Further Sanctions

Action: To receive and determine appropriate further sanctions

Decision 
Maker:

National Park Authority

Page 120



Guidance

K1 The Committee recommendation shall be received by the National Park Authority as an 
exempt item at the next Authority meeting under Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972 and the press, public and members who are not subject members, relevant officers 
of the Authority or the members of the National Park Authority shall be excluded.

K2 The further sanction recommendations shall be one or more of the following (and shall 
include such detail and timescales the Committee considers necessary):

(i) The subject member shall publically apologise or (where possible) undertake such 
action to mitigate the complaint;

(ii) The subject member shall undertake appropriate training; 
(iii) The subject member shall be removed as a representative from an outside body or 

any committee of the Authority;
(iv) The subject member shall be removed from any special responsibility or role (such 

as chair or vice-chair of a committee). 
(v) The Authority shall publicise the decision of the Standards Committee in the Part 1 

minutes (but not the reasons or further information) 
(vi) The Authority shall publicise the decision of the Standards Committee (but not the 

reasons or further information) for a period up to 24 months on the Authority’s 
website;

(vii) The Authority shall write to the appointing authority for the member and request 
that the authority appoint an alternative member in substitute.

(viii) The Authority shall report the matter to the PSOW (where the Authority 
considers that the sanction should be more severe or where the Authority 
considers that further investigation is required and is more extensive or involved 
than the Authority can commission).

  
K3 The National Park Authority shall note the breach of the Code of Conduct and decision of 

the Committee and shall determine whether to accept the recommendation (or substitute 
its own appropriate sanction from I4.7 or K2). 

K4 There is no right of appeal against the decision of the Standards Committee, the sanctions 
or the decision of the National Park Authority and in the case of the complainant, they shall 
be referred to the PSOW if they remain dissatisfied.

K5 In circumstances where a subject member does not perform or comply with the terms of 
the sanction then such non-compliance shall be reported back to the National Park Authority 
by the MO (other than in circumstances where the MO considers that the subject member 
has made reasonable endeavours to comply to terms of the sanction or such lesser sanction 
in substitute) who will determine whether to impose further sanctions from K2.

Page 121



L. General Guidance 

Requests for Confidentiality 
L1 In the interests of fairness and in compliance with the rules of natural justice, the subject 

member have a right to know who has made the complaint and the substance of the 
allegation(s) made against them. 
 

L2 Complainants have the right to request that their identity is not revealed to the subject 
member and the MO, who will consult with the Chair of the Standards Committee, may 
grant such requests at their discretion in exceptional circumstances. The MO is unlikely to 
withhold a complainant’s personal details or the details of the complaint unless they 
consider there to be good reasons to believe that a complainant has justifiable grounds for 
anonymity/confidentiality.  
 

L3 When considering a request for confidentiality the MO will consider any such request 
alongside the substance of the complaint itself and apply the following criteria: 
 
• the complainant has reasonable grounds for believing that they will be at risk of 

physical harm from, or that they may be victimised or harassed by the subject 
member(s) against whom they are submitting the complaint (or from or by a 
person associated with the subject member(s)); 

• the complainant has reasonable grounds for the belief that they may receive less 
favourable treatment from the Authority because of the identity and/or seniority 
of the subject member(s) in terms of any existing Authority service provision or 
any tender/contract that they may have or are about to submit to the Authority. 

  
L4 When considering a request for confidentiality against these criteria the MO will also: 

 
• balance the request for confidentiality against the substance of the complaint; 
• consider whether it is possible to investigate the complaint without making the 

complainant’s identity known to the subject member, given the requirement for a 
proper investigation. 

 
L5 If the MO, in consultation with the Chairperson of the Standards Committee decides to refuse 

a request for confidentiality they may decide to offer the complainant the opportunity to 
withdraw their complaint. When deciding whether to allow a complaint to be withdrawn the 
MO must consider whether the public interest in proceeding with an investigation outweighs 
the complainant’s wish to have their identity withheld from the subject member.

Page 122



Variation and withdrawing Complaints 
L6 The complainant shall not be permitted to add to, withdraw or vary their complaint after 

the MO has completed Stage 2. 

L7 In exceptional circumstances (for example, where a refusal would lead to second or 
repeated complaint) the MO in consultation with the Chairman of the Standards 
Committee will permit an addition or variation provided that such addition or variation 
does not unfairly prevent the subject member from answering the complaint or causes 
undue delay, complication or stress to the process.

L8 Any request to withdraw the complaint shall only be accepted by the Authority where 
both the subject member and the MO (in consultation with the Chairperson of the 
Standards Committee) agree. 

Confidentiality of process 
L9 The subject member and officers shall keep all matters confidential and shall only disclose 

any information (including the existence of any complaint) as necessary to pursue or 
defend as appropriate.   

L10 The parties acknowledge that the Authority is unable to prevent any third parties from 
disclosing the existence of a complaint, the use of the protocol or any documentation 
produced to the party as a requirement of the protocol.   

Evidential Test
L11 A decision maker under this protocol shall give weight and regard to evidence based 

upon its content but also on the method such evidence is delivered. 

L12 A decision maker shall place greatest weight and regard to first hand witness testimony 
which has been subject to its own questioned and examination. Lesser weight (to be 
determined by decision maker) will be placed on evidence delivered in another method 
(for example, written statements only, hearsay evidence).  

L13 Decisions shall be made on a civil basis of balance of probabilities. 

Insurance & Costs 
L14 The complainant and the subject member shall bear any costs incurred in accordance 

with the requirements of this protocol.  

L15 The subject member shall not be indemnified by the Authority under The Local 
Authorities (Indemnities for Members and Officers) Order 2004 or any indemnity 
insurance obtained under such Order.

Page 123



Persistent and Serious Breaches
L14 Persistent, repeated or serious breaches will not be considered under this Protocol and 

the complainant will be advised by the MO to refer the matter to the PSOW.

Behaviours
L15 Officers and members shall comply with their respect Codes of Conduct and requests 

of the MO, Democratic Services Manager and Standards Committee.

L16 The MO or the Standards Committee will not tolerate inappropriate behaviour during 
the application of the Protocol or during any meeting. Where inappropriate behaviour 
is experienced then the MO or Standards Committee will continue the Protocol without 
recourse to the party demonstrating such behaviours. 

Updates within the Authority
L17 The parties to this Protocol agree and acknowledge that the MO shall update the Chair 

and the Chief Executive of the Authority as necessary as to the status, details and nature 
of any complaint considered under this Protocol.

L18 The parties to this Protocol agree and acknowledge that where an officer of the 
Authority is the complainant the MO shall update the relevant Director (or such other 
senior officer in substitute that the Director designates).

L19 The use of this Protocol and the decisions or outcomes in an anonymised format will be 
reported to the Standards Committee on an annual basis as a public document.

Officer complaints
L20 The Authority operates a grievance procedure in respect to officer complaints that 

complies with ACAS Code of Practice. Any grievance raised against a member shall be 
considered under this Protocol. 

L21 An officer shall have a right of appeal against an initial decision of the MO at Stage 3. The 
appeal will be considered by the Standards Committee in accordance with the provisions 
of Stage 5. There is no further appeal of the initial decision of the MO at Stage 3.

L22 An officer shall have a right of appeal against an initial decision of the Standards 
Committee at Stage 5. The appeal will be considered by the National Park Authority 
using the processes in Stage 4 to Stage 7.

L23 The Standard’s Committee or National Park Authority will decide in an appeal:
i. to uphold the original decision; or
ii. to substitute its own decision.

Page 124



In the case of the National Park Authority, where its substituted decision determines 
sanctions are appropriate, then such will be made at the same meeting.

L24 An officer can appeal the outcome of the complaint as above but cannot appeal the 
sanctions imposed at Stage 7. 

Publicity & Previous Decisions
L24 The Authority will retain a record of all decisions made under this Protocol until such 

time as the subject member is no longer a member of the Authority. 

L25 A Decision Maker may consider previous decisions when deciding on an appropriate 
route or method of resolution or which sanction is appropriate. The Decision Maker 
will give reasons where a previous decision has or has not been considered. 

L26 Unless the subject member requests otherwise, the Authority will not publish decisions 
other than provided under paragraph K2.

PSOW
L27 Nothing in this Protocol shall prevent a complainant from referring a matter to the 

PSOW. If a referral is made, then no further actions shall be undertaken under this 
Protocol.

Changes to this Protocol
L28 Under a National Park Authority Resolution dated 29 October 2019 the MO is 

authorised to change the ‘Guidance’ parts of this Protocol in consultation with the 
Chairpersons of the appropriate subcommittee of the Authority where improvements 
and clarifications are required.

L29 The MO may also make changes of an editorial nature as appropriate to make the 
Protocol consistent with the other Authority Protocols or any decision made by the 
Authority, is up-to-date and understandable.

L30 Any changes made under paragraph L28 will be notified to the members of the Authority 
together with the reasoning for the change.

Page 125



M – Version Control and Changes

Version Date Authority Changes
1.0 29/10/19 NPA Adopted new LRP to replace previous LRP 

and Procedure for Dealing with a Breach of a 
Local Protocol

Page 126



P
age 127



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Approval of Pay Policy Statement 2018/19

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority

Date 29 October 2019

Report Author Elaine Standen/Elizabeth Lewis

Job title Finance Manager/HR Officer

Contact Details elaine.standen@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To approve report for publication on the Authority’s 
website.

Single Integrated 
Assessment

The pay policy statement is a public-facing synthesis of 
existing policy documents which provides information on 
how the Authority manages and remunerates staff.  No 
change has been made to existing policies.  

List of  Enclosures 1) Draft Pay Policy Statement

Recommendation(s) a) That the Authority approves the Pay Policy Statement for 
publication

1.0 Introduction 

In December 2016, the Staff Commission Wales issued guidance on the publication of pay 
policy statements by a range of public bodies including Welsh National Park Authorities.  The 
guidance can be found on the links below:

http://publicservicesstaffcommission.gov.wales/guidance-and-reports/transparency-of-senior-
remuneration-devolved-welsh-public-sector?lang=en 

http://comisiwnstaffygwasanaethaucyhoeddus.llyw.cymru/guidance-and-reports/transparency-of-
senior-remuneration-devolved-welsh-public-sector?lang=cy 

The Staff Commission’s guidance requires the Policy statement to be approved by the 
Authority and published annually, together with information which analyses the amounts paid to 
staff and the composition of the workforce during the preceding year.

Page 129

Agenda Item 13

http://publicservicesstaffcommission.gov.wales/guidance-and-reports/transparency-of-senior-remuneration-devolved-welsh-public-sector?lang=en
http://publicservicesstaffcommission.gov.wales/guidance-and-reports/transparency-of-senior-remuneration-devolved-welsh-public-sector?lang=en
http://comisiwnstaffygwasanaethaucyhoeddus.llyw.cymru/guidance-and-reports/transparency-of-senior-remuneration-devolved-welsh-public-sector?lang=cy
http://comisiwnstaffygwasanaethaucyhoeddus.llyw.cymru/guidance-and-reports/transparency-of-senior-remuneration-devolved-welsh-public-sector?lang=cy


2.0 Proposals

The enclosed Statement has been reviewed and updated with current pay levels and statistics 
for the year to 31/3/19.  

The document includes information on how both junior and senior staff are recruited, retained 
and remunerated, pay scales, termination benefits, the role of Members and terms and 
conditions.  

It focusses particularly on the remuneration of senior staff and how this is subject to 
democratic oversight as required by the Commission.  The statement complements the 
information that is published in the Annual Statement of Accounts on senior staff remuneration 
and termination benefits paid in the year, and the Annual Governance Statement.

3.0 Conclusion

It is proposed that, subject to Authority approval of the document as enclosed, the Statement is 
published on the Authority’s website. 

RECOMMENDATION:

a)  That the Authority approves the Pay Policy Statement for publication. 

Page 130



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 1

The Single, Integrated, Impact Assessment (SIIA) toolkit incorporating Welsh Language, Equalities, Well Being of Future Generations Act, Risk Management and Resources, supporting effective decision 
making and ensuring compliance with respective legislation.  There are a number of pieces of legislation that the National Park Authority is subject to, which require us to carefully consider how we make 
decisions:

Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011 

This specifies that the Authority must have due regard to: 
 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation 
 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a 

relevant protected characteristic and those who do not;
 Foster good relations between people who share a protected 

characteristic and those who do not.
And must:
 Remove or minimise disadvantages experienced by people due to 

their protected characteristics
 Take steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups.
 Encourage people with protected characteristics to participate in 

public life or in other activities where their participation is 
disproportionately low. 

The Act describes fostering good relations as tackling prejudice and 
promoting understanding between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. Meeting the duty may involve 
treating some people more favourably than others, as long as this 
does not contravene other provisions within the Act.

Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

The Wellbeing of Future Generations Act will from April 2016 require all 
public bodies to demonstrate that we are improving social, economic, 
environmental and cultural wellbeing, whilst also looking to the future, 
planning for the long term and ensuring that we don’t compromise the 
ability of future generations to be able to do the same.  This is called 
sustainable development.

The Act sets out 7 Wellbeing Goals:  
 A Prosperous Wales
 A Resilient Wales
 A Healthier Wales
 A More Equal Wales
 A Wales of Cohesive Communities
 A Wales of Vibrant Culture and Thriving Welsh Language
 A Globally Responsible Wales

We have to demonstrate how we are contributing to all of these goals 
and following the 5 Sustainable Development principles:
Long term, Integration, Collaboration, Involvement and Prevention

Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011

 Gives the Welsh language official status in 
Wales 

 Establishes the principle that the Welsh 
language should be treated no less 
favourably than the English language

 Requires public authorities to comply with 
standards relating to Welsh language 
provision

The Policy Making Standards relate to assessing 
the impact of policies and decisions on 
opportunities for persons to use the Welsh 
language, and on treating the Welsh language 
no less favourably than the English language. 
The Authority must therefore consider the 
Welsh Language when we are developing 
policies and strategies or when considering new 
ways of providing services.

Integrated Risk Assessment (Legislative Frameworks) - Whilst there is no formal legislation which stipulates that we must formally manage our risks, it is good practice to undertake risk management, a 
process whereby we assess, evaluate and take action on risks in order to increase the probability of success and reduce the likelihood of failure. This process should include regular monitoring to ensure 
control of our identified risks where required.  The outputs from effective risk management include compliance, assurance and enhanced decision making.  These outputs provide benefits by way of 
improvements in the efficiency of our operations, successful delivery of our projects and the implementation of our corporate objectives.

Risk management is a continuous process that supports the development and implementation of our corporate planning and budget setting processes.  Plans typically focus on a desired future, which is 
underpinned by a set of reasonable assumptions.  However, each of these assumptions carries a level of uncertainty and risk.  Using identified risks in the corporate planning and budget setting 
processes will ensure that we make informed decisions based on the current level of risk, and are fully aware of how the risks could either have a negative impact on our ability to deliver our objectives, 
or expose opportunities that we can exploit.  Achieving our targeted performance is dependent upon our ability to manage our risks.  As we deal with a changing legislative and policy framework we 
need to become shrewder about the risks we take so we can sustain our services with a continually reducing budget.  Equally importantly we must be aware of the risks to avoid to ensure we protect our 
customers, reputation and financial stability.

P
age 131



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 2

Service Area Human Resources Report Author Elaine Standen Director who has approved 
this assessment Julian Atkins

Summary of Recommendation
That the 2018/19 Pay Policy Statement is approved for publication

1.   How does your recommendation impact on the Authority’s Corporate Goals?

Authority Goal How does the recommendation contribute 
to the goal?

Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive or 
mitigate any negative impacts?

i. Managing Park landscapes to maximise 
conservation and public benefits n

ii. Conserving and enhancing biodiversity
n

iii. Providing opportunities for outdoor 
access and recreation n

iv. Raising awareness and understanding of 
the Park n

v. Building and maintaining sustainable 
communities, towns and villages n

vi. Sustainable economic development
n

2.  How does your recommendation impact on the Welsh Government’s well-being goals?

Well-being Goal How does the recommendation contribute 
to the goal?

Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive or 
mitigate any negative impacts?

A prosperous Wales:
Efficient use of resources, skilled, educated people, generates 
wealth, provides jobs.

Employment opportunities?  Local 
procurement? Adds value to local products? 
Attracts paying visitors?
Social enterprise involvement?  Opportunity 
for training or learning?
Adverse effect on local businesses?  

n Think about what you are going to do to address any 
negative impacts you have identified

P
age 132



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 3

Well-being Goal How does the recommendation contribute 
to the goal?

Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive or 
mitigate any negative impacts?

Reference to BBNPA LDP?

A resilient Wales:
Maintain and enhance biodiversity and ecosystems that 
support resilience and can adapt to change (eg climate 
change).

Opportunities to protect or enhance 
biodiversity? Opportunities to mitigate or 
adapt to effect of climate change?
Any pollution or emissions impact?
Opportunities to increase energy efficiency or 
generate green energy?

n Think about what you are going to do to address any 
negative impacts you have identified

A healthier Wales:
People’s physical and mental well-being is maximised and 
health impacts are understood.

Impact on people’s wellbeing (physical, 
mental and emotional)? Enhanced access to 
outdoor environment? Improved information 
on how to access the National Park? Supports 
increased physical activity. Increases 
knowledge about NPs health impacts

n Think about what you are going to do to address any 
negative impacts you have identified

A Wales of cohesive communities:
Communities are attractive, viable, safe and well connected.

Impact on connecting communities 
(transport, connectivity)?
Opportunities for communities to be 
involved? Encourages understanding between 
different communities. Supports community 
safety

n Think about what you are going to do to address any 
negative impacts you have identified

A globally responsible Wales:
Taking account of impact on global well-being when 
considering local social, economic and environmental well-
being.

Opportunities for benefits outside Wales/UK?   
Eg. improvements to environment/tourism 
opportunities
Likely to increase pollution, emissions or 
resource use? Learning which can be more 
widely shared? Impact on Human Rights? 

n Think about what you are going to do to address any 
negative impacts you have identified

A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language:
Culture, heritage and Welsh language are promoted and 
protected.

Impact on sustainability of Welsh speaking 
communities? Opportunities to promote 
Welsh language? Enhances or protects built 
heritage. Supports cultural heritage eg. 
Events, traditional activities, local knowledge
Will Welsh medium delivery be of the same 

n Think about what you are going to do to address any 
negative impacts you have identified

P
age 133

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/42/contents


Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 4

Well-being Goal How does the recommendation contribute 
to the goal?

Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive or 
mitigate any negative impacts?

standard as English delivery?

A more equal Wales:
People can fulfil their potential no matter what their 
background or circumstances.

Does the recommendation 
affect a large amount of 
people? Please give any 
evidence

Does the recommendation 
affect a small group of people 
in a significant way? Please 
give any evidence

How will the recommendation take into account the 
differing needs of protected characteristics or address any 
negative impact? Please give details

Age
Disability
Gender Reassignment
Marriage or civil partnership
Race
Religion or Belief
Sex
Sexual Orientation
Pregnancy and Maternity

no no 

3.  How does your recommendation impact on the Sustainable Development Principles?

Sustainable Development Principle How does the recommendation impact on this principle?
Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive or mitigate 
any negative impacts?

Balancing short term 
need with long term 
and planning for the 
future.

We are required to look beyond the usual short term 
timescales for financial planning and political cycles and 
instead plan with the longer term in mind (guidance says 
at least 10 years, but preferably 25)

n

P
age 134



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 5

Sustainable Development Principle How does the recommendation impact on this principle?
Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive or mitigate 
any negative impacts?

Working together 
with other partners 
to deliver.

Are there opportunities to work with others to deliver 
outcomes? Can others deliver with support from BBNPA? 
Are we encouraging our partners to play an active role?

n

 Involving those 
with an   interest 
and seeking their 
views.

Who are the stakeholders who will be affected by your 
proposal? Have they been involved? Do those involved 
reflect the diversity of the area which is served?

n

Putting resources 
into preventing 
problems 
occurring or 
getting worse.

Will the proposal act as preventative action to reduce the 
likelihood of a problem occurring or getting worse? n

Positively 
impacting on 
people, economy 
and environment 
and trying to 
benefit all three.

There is space to describe impacts on people, economy 
and environment under the Wellbeing Goals above, so 
instead focus here on how you will better integrate them 
and balance any competing impacts.  Also think about 
impacts the proposal may have on other organisations.

n

4.  Welsh Language

Relevant Welsh Language Standard
Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

Please give details here 

Standard 88
What effects will the policy have (positive or negative) on
a) Opportunities for people to use the Welsh Language
b) Treating the Welsh Language no less favourably than the English Language

n

Standard 89
How could the policy be formulated or changed so that the policy decision would 
have positive effects or increased positive effects on

Make sure you address all the elements of the Standard

P
age 135



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 6

Relevant Welsh Language Standard
Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

Please give details here 

a) Opportunities for people to use the Welsh Language
b) Treating the Welsh Language no less favourably than the English Language

 
Standard 90
How could the policy be formulated or changed so that it would not have adverse 
effects or would have reduced adverse effects on
a) Opportunities for people to use the Welsh Language
b) Treating the Welsh Language no less favourably than the English Language

n Make sure you address all the elements of the Standard

5. Resource Implications  

Resource Please give details
Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive or mitigate 
any negative impacts?

Financial
Eg. Will this be funded from existing budget, 
external funding, savings, other? n

The Public Services (Social Value) 
Act 2012:  Will this mean 
procurement over £172,514 
without using a recognised 
framework?

Please check with the Finance Manager if you 
need further guidance on this

n

Staffing
How will this recommendation be 
implemented? From existing staff, externally 
funded post, volunteers, other?

n

6. Governance and Improvement

Will the recommendation have an impact on: Please give details

Positive 
(+)
Negative 
(-)
Neutral 
(N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive 
or mitigate any negative impacts?

Improvement: How will the decision be 
monitored and evaluated to lead to future 
improvements?

An annual report on pay policy will be produced for 
Members and published on the Authority’s 
Website

n

P
age 136



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 7

Will the recommendation have an impact on: Please give details

Positive 
(+)
Negative 
(-)
Neutral 
(N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive 
or mitigate any negative impacts?

Governance: Will the decision lead to 
improved governance? 

Members have an opportunity to review and 
consider pay policy n

Privacy:  Will  there be any implications for 
personal information relating to individuals: n

7. What are the risks associated with this recommendation?

Description of risk

Impa
ct 
(seve
rity)

Probabil
ity 
(delivera
bility)

Inhe
rent 
Risk

Summary of possible 
controls

Targe
t 
Impac
t

Targe
t 
Proba
bility

Target 
Risk

none Score 
1-3

Score 1-
3

Calc 
3-9

Summary of proposed 
actions to control risk 
by mitigation and 
contingency

Score 
1-3

Score 
1-3

Calc 3-
9

Does it have potential to impact on another service area?
no

8.  Is there additional evidence to support the Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIA)?

What additional evidence and data has informed the development of your proposal?

9.  Impact Assessment Summary and Judgement

Outline Assessment (to be inserted in Committee Report)

The pay policy statement is a public-facing synthesis of existing policy documents which provides information on how the Authority manages and 

P
age 137



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 8

remunerates staff.  It is a backward-looking report on existing policies.  

P
age 138



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Pay Policy Statement 2018/2019

Page 139



              Contents

              1. Introduction
              2. Legislative Framework
              3. Decision making including consideration of value for money
              4. Senior Officer Pay and Remuneration
              5. Role and Remuneration of Chief Executive
              6. Staff Remuneration
              7. Highest and lowest pay point and progression through the pay scale
              8. Internal Talent Management 
              9. Honoraria and acting up Schemes
            10. Performance Related Pay
            11. Additional Payments
            12. Off-Payroll Arrangements
            13. Pensions and Redundancy/Severance Payments

14.  National Insurance Contributions
15.  Pay Policy Review Arrangements

Appendices

Appendix 1  -   Chief Officer Pay Scale

Appendix 2  -  Staff Grades and JNC Pay Scale

Appendix 3  -  Staff Composition and Pay 2018/19

Page 140



                                       Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Pay Policy Statement 2018/2019

Next review date: March 2020

1. Introduction

Section 38(1) of the Localism Act 2011 placed a requirement on Local Authorities to prepare 
pay policy statements. 

This is the Brecon Beacons National Park Authorities Pay Policy statements for the period 1 
April 2018 – 31st March 2019.

The Authority is committed to operating consistent and equitable pay arrangements for 
employees. 

This pay policy statement describes the framework for decision making and in particular 
decision making on senior pay.  It sets out the basis for determining salaries, how salary levels 
are arrived at, the method of pay progression and the approval for acting up, honoraria and 
severance payments.

It sets out the Authority’s own policies towards a range of issues relating to the pay of its 
workforce, particularly its senior staff or ‘chief officers’ and its lowest paid employees.  

The Statement will be prepared for each financial year and approved by the Authority (the 
statement will be published with our annual accounts and on our website).  An analysis of the 
composition and remuneration of all employees of the Authority for the year ended 31 March 
2019 is included in Appendix 3.

This policy does not apply to Members of the Authority as they are not employees and are 
governed by separate legislation via the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales.

2.        Legislative Framework

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority was designated in 1957.  It is one of fifteen National 
Parks in the UK and three in Wales.  The statutory purposes of UK National Park Authorities 
are set out in Section 61 of the Environment Act 1995.  These are:

First Purpose: To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural 
heritage of the National Parks;

Second Purpose: To promote opportunities fot he understanding and enjoyment of the 
special qualities (of National Parks) by the public.

The purposes are underpinned in law by the ‘Sandford Principle’.  This makes it clear that the 
first purpose should take precedence over the second in cases of irreconcilable conflict

Page 141



National Parks also have a duty under Section 62(1) of the Environment Act 1995:

Duty: In taking forward the National Park purposes, [to] seek to foster the economic 
and social well-being of local communities within the National Park.

The Authority is the Statutory Local Planning Authority for the National Park area and is 
included within the scope of legislation relating to the governance, financial management and 
audit of Local Authorities in Wales.  It is an admitted body to the Local Government Pension 
Scheme.

In determining the pay and remuneration of all of its employees, the Authority will comply with 
all relevant employment legislation. This includes the Equality Act 2010, Part Time Employment 
(Prevention of Less Favourable Treatment) Regulations 2000, The Agency Workers Regulations 
2010 and where relevant, the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Earnings) Regulations. 
With regard to the Equal Pay requirements contained within the Equality Act, the Authority 
aims to ensure there is no pay discrimination within its pay structures and that all pay 
differentials can be objectively justified through the use of equality proofed Job Evaluation 
mechanisms.

 3.        Decision making including consideration of value for money

The structure which is described in this and the following sub-section below operated to 
1 February 2019.  Following a review, a revised structure including changes to senior 
management decision-making and delegation arrangements was implemented over a 
number of months and will be described in the Pay Policy Statement for 2019/20.
      
In accordance with the Standing Orders of the Authority members are responsible for decision 
making relating to pay, terms and conditions and redundancy arrangements for employees of 
the Authority.  The Terms of Reference and Scheme of Delegation are available on the 
Authority’s website https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/  under the following link: Terms of 
Reference and Scheme of Delegation, Brecon Beacons National Park Authority.  HR policies 
are approved by the Authority for and are made available to all staff. 

In 2018/19, the Management Team included the Chief Executive, Service Leads and Director. 
The Management Team formally met monthly, with additional meetings as required.  The 
Management Team’s role was defined by Terms of Reference.  Decisions relating to changes to 
the establishment, policies and other significant HR matters were initially put before the 
Management Team for approval before being submitted to the Authority.  In early 2019, a new 
role of Delivery Director was added to the establishment, replacing the former Director role.  
Subsequently the management structure of the Authority was reviewed and a revised structure 
was established in 2019/20.
             
 4.      Senior Officer Pay and Remuneration

The Authority defines its Chief Officers as the Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service), the two 
Directors and the statutory post of Monitoring Officer.  The Chief Financial Officer (S151 
Officer) is so defined for statutory and not remuneration purposes.  The Authority employs 
Chief Officers under Joint National Council (JNC) terms and conditions.  The JNC for Chief 

Page 142

https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieSearchResults2.aspx?SS=terms%20of%20reference&DT=6&ST=L&ADV=0&CA=false&SB=false&CX=673352&PG=1&$LO$=1


Officers negotiates on UK-wide annual cost of living pay increases for this group.  Chief 
Officers employed under JNC terms and conditions are contractually entitled to any national 
JNC determined pay rises and the Authority will therefore pay these as and when determined. 

The Directors’ and Monitoring Officer’s pay grade and scale points equate to 75% of the Chief 
Executives’ pay scale.  The Delivery Director post, filled from 1 February 2019, equates to 85% 
of the Chief Executive salary.  In the case of the Monitoring officer, this is paid pro-rata on a 
part-time basis.  A copy of the pay scale is shown in Appendix 1.

The use of the ‘Hays’ system of job evaluation for Chief Officers was approved by the Authority 
during 2007.  This is a system that is extensively used in the UK and in other countries and has 
proven to be robust.  The remuneration of the Chief Officers’ roles below Chief Executive was 
based on a proportion of the Chief Executive role’s remuneration. This evaluation was based 
upon the Hay Group benchmark scores of all the National Parks in England and Wales. The 
New Delivery Director post was also evaluated through the Hays System in accordance with 
the Chief Executive remuneration.

The Authority does not pay any performance bonus or performance related pay to its Chief 
Officers. Chief Officers are paid in line with annual incremental progression through the salary 
structure.

Any future Chief Officer post re-evaluations will be approved by the Authority.  
   

These posts are covered by a range of terms and conditions drawn from JNC for 
Chief Officers and NJC Staff. The exceptions from NJC staff conditions are:

 Annual Leave entitlement.

 A 3 Month Notice Period.

 Policy and processes for Disciplinary and Grievance procedures.

The details of Senior Officer remuneration for the last complete financial year and the previous 
year are published in the annual Statement of Accounts.

The 2% pay award dated 1st April 2018was agreed as year two of a two-year settlement.

No senior posts within the Authority attract a remuneration package of more than £100,000.  
Termination payments made during the year are published in the Authority’s annual Statement 
of Accounts and are subject to audit.

  5.      Role and Remuneration of Chief Executive

The Chief Executive is the Head of Paid Service, whose role and responsibilities are set out in 
the Terms of Reference and Scheme of Delegation and the Authority’s Financial Regulations.  
The Authority has an annual gross expenditure of approximately £6.5m and employs 
approximately 100 full-time equivalent staff.  Further details of staff employed in the current 
year are provided in the appendices.  

Page 143



The role of Chief Executive is a permanent, full time appointment and is appointed by, and 
reports to, the Authority.  As head of paid service for the Authority, the Chief Executive works 
with Authority members to deliver the Authority’s priorities as set out in the Corporate Plan.

The post holder is selected on merit against a range of objective criteria, following public 
advertisement.  A sub-committee of the Authority; the Appointments Committee, 
comprising the Chairman and Deputy Chairman of the Authority, the Chairman and Deputy 
Chairman of the Planning Access and Rights of Way Committee and the Chairman and Deputy 
Chairman of the Audit and Scrutiny Committee, deals with the recruitment of Chief Officers 
through shortlist and interview and makes recommendations on a final selection for interview 
by the National Park Authority.   

The role involves attending evening meeting and also heads the on-call arrangements for 
emergency planning requirements.  The Authority’s current regulatory documents, available on 
the website on the following link Brecon Beacons NPA Regulatory Documents provide further 
details of the responsibilities and delegated authority of the Chief Executive.

Chief Executive Pay

The salary for the Chief Executive is set out in the Chief Officer pay bands; the current range is 
£72,379.90- £79.615.46.  As an employee of the Authority, the Chief Executive is enrolled into 
the Local Government Pension Scheme as administered by Powys County Council under the 
same arrangements as other employees.  Contribution rates for all employees and the 
Authority as employer are set nationally and by the Powys Pension Fund Actuary respectively. 
    
Expenses such as travel and subsistence are paid in accordance with the Authority Travel and 
Subsistence Policy.            

 6.     Staff Remuneration

2% pay awards dated 1st April 2018 and 1st April 2019 were agreed as part of a two year 
settlement.

The roles of all staff not classed as Chief Officers are evaluated internally against the National 
Joint Council for Local Government Services – National Agreement on Pay and Conditions of 
Service.  All NJC posts are evaluated and graded by trained staff members. The link between 
the job evaluation score, grades applied at the Authority and the national pay scale can be found 
in Appendix 2.

 Incremental Progression:  for all NJC and JNC employees, incremental progression is 
initially not automatic, but is dependent upon a successful performance review.  Following a 
successful performance review after 6 months increments are normally thereafter paid on the 
1st April each year until the employee reaches the top of their scale.

Support provided for Lower Paid Staff – the Living and National Minimum Wage:
In 2015 Authority’s grade structure was amended.  The lowest scale point is now Point 6 and 
on the 22nd May 2015, the Authority resolved that:

Page 144

http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13087&$LO$=1


a) That the NPA does not become an accredited Living Wage Employer; 

b) For all staff aged 18 years and above a minimum of the Living Wage is paid and that it is 
reviewed annually.  

c) For all staff below 18 years of age a minimum of the lowest scale point is paid; 

d) For apprenticeships, the National Minimum Wage is paid and included in future 
applications for funding; 

7.    Highest and lowest pay point and progression through the pay scale

The lowest paid employee is on ££16,394, Grade *1, spinal column point6 * of the national NJC 
scale.  (The lowest paid employee over 18 is paid the Living wage supplement to bring the 
minimum to £**).   Further details are provided in the Appendices.  This excludes apprentices 
who are engaged on different arrangements and receive accredited training as part of their 
employment.

The highest paid employee is the Chief Executive and the pay band minimum is £72,379.90, 
rising to £ 79,615.46 the current post holders earns £** prior to the 31st March 2019.
 
The median salary in the Authority during the year is published annually in the Statement of 
Accounts.

        Salary on Appointment – all employees’ posts are advertised on the evaluated grade for that 
particular post and information regarding the minimum and maximum pay is provided in the 
advertisement. In practice most appointments are made at the bottom of the range, but there is 
discretion to appoint at a higher point on the range. This would usually be to match a 
candidate’s current level of pay or experience in particular circumstances. 

Pay Review – all employees pay is reviewed in line with the national pay awards        
negotiated by the local government employers in conjunction with the recognized Trade 
Unions at a national level.  The Authority currently has no employees with market supplements 
or performance related pay arrangements.

8.  Internal Talent Management

The Authority advertises vacancies internally (with exception of Chief Officer posts) in the first 
instance to provide staff with an opportunity to progress. The Authority invests in supporting 
and encouraging our junior Planning staff to develop professionally and has introduced 
development grades within the department.  Staff are able to request relevant training through 
the performance management process and, if approved by the relevant line manager, this will be 
funded by the Authority, subject to budget constraints.

Some grant-funded posts may require external advertising of posts as part of the grant 
conditions.

9.   Honoraria and acting up Schemes 

Page 145



The Authority has policies for the payment of honoraria where an employee acts up into a post 
at a higher level of pay or where they undertake additional duties at a higher level of 
responsibility.  

10.  Performance Related Pay

There is no element of performance related pay for staff.

11.  Additional Payments

Additional payments are made to both Chief Officers and Staff.  Additional payments made 
include: public holiday payments (NJC Staff) and weekend working allowance (NJC Staff).   
Authorised travel and subsistence expenses/allowances are paid to reimburse staff for expenses 
necessarily incurred in the performance of their duties, as provided for under the Authority’s 
policies.  Staff designated as providers of first aid receive an allowances and, where applicable, 
payment is made for up to two subscriptions to professional bodies relevant to the post held.

The Authority is committed to help support the health, safety and wellbeing of its employees 
and as such offers eye tests for users of display screen equipment at work, annual health checks 
and the opportunity to access a salary sacrifice scheme for childcare vouchers and additional 
voluntary pension contributions.

12.  Off-Payroll Arrangements

In circumstances where a specific specialism is required for the Authority may consider the 
employment of consultants or enter into agreed Service Level Agreements with other Local 
Authorities.  Parties to such an arrangement are required to comply with relevant taxation and 
national insurance regulations.  

13.   Pensions and Redundancy/Severance Payments

The Authority applies its schemes equally and fairly to all employees regardless of grade, age or 
gender and are applied in accordance with the regulations of the Local Government pension 
scheme.  In 2016/17, the Authority’s members approved a revised Redundancy Policy to 
improve clarity for staff.  The accrual rate for calculation of redundancy compensation 
payments remains unchanged, the maximum years’ service is 20, adjusted for employees over 
the age of 35 depending on their age, in line with statutory provisions.  

The redundancy payments considered and agreed during the year are reported in the 
Authority’s annual Statement of Accounts for the year and are subject to audit.  These include:-

 redundancy notice at the end of a fixed term .contract
 voluntary redundancy requests which were agreed. 
 deletion of posts arising from changes to service provision or departmental structures.

   All redundancies must be agreed by Members of the Authority.

Page 146



 See the appendices for the Authority’s remuneration report for 2018-2019.

 All Authority employees are entitled to join the local government pension scheme (LGPS) 
which is offered by the Local Government Employers. The Authority operates within the auto-
enrolment framework set out within the Occupational and Personal Pension Schemes 
(Automatic Enrolment) Regulations 2010. The employee contribution rates, which are defined 
by statute, currently range between 5.5 **per cent and 12.5** per cent of actual pensionable 
pay.

14.  National Insurance Contributions

From 1st April 2016, employees paying contributions to the Local Government Pension
Scheme saw an increase in their National Insurance Contributions. This was due to the Pension 
Scheme contracting-out rebate being removed for both employees and employers.  Entitlement 
to the State Basic Pension was also affected. The Authority now pays a higher level of National 
Insurance Contributions due to the changes.

15.  Policy Review Arrangements.

This policy statement will be kept under review and updated on an annual basis in line with the 
Localism Act 2011. 

Page 147



Appendix 1: 2018/19 Senior Officer Pay Scales

Scp

Chief Executive

1
£72,379.90

2
£73,827.50

3
£75,275.09

4
£76,722.69

5
£78,169.08

6
£79,615.46

Director*/Monitoring 
Officer 

1
£54,285.05

2
£55,370.31

3
£56,456.68

4
£57,541.93

5
£58,627.19

6
£59,414.95

Delivery Director

1
£61,522

2
£62,574

3
£63,984

4
£65,214

5
£66,443

6
£67,673

‘* The Director role ceased in December 2019 and was replaced by the new role of Delivery 
Director.

Page 148



Appendix 2: Staff Grades and JNC Pay Scale

POINTS GRADE SCALE POINT 1 Apr 16 1 Apr 17 1 Apr 18
0 - 259 1 4* N/A N/A N/A

  5** N/A N/A N/A

6 14,514 15,014 16,394

260 - 289 2 7 14,615 15,115 16,495

8 14,771 15,246 16,626

9 14,975 15,375 16,755

290 - 314 3 10 15,238 15,613 16,863

11 15,507 15,807 17,007

12 15,823 16,123 17,173

315 - 339 4 13 16,191 16,491 17,391

14 16,481 16,781 17,681

15 16,772 17,072 17,972

340 - 364 5 16 17,169 17,419 18,319

17 17,547 17,772 18,672

18 17,891 18,070 18,870

365 - 389 6 19 18,560 18,746 19,446

20 19,238 19,430 19,819

21 19,939 20,138 20,541

390 - 414 7 22 20,456 20,661 21,074

23 21,057 21,268 21,693

24 21,745 21,962 22,401

415 - 449 8 25 22,434 22,658 23,111

26 23,166 23,398 23,866

27 23,935 24,174 24,657

28 24,717 24964 25,463

450 - 484 9 29 25,694 25,951 26,470

Page 149



30 26,556 26,822 27,358

31 27,394 27,668 28,221

485 - 519 10 31 27,394 27,668 28,221

32 28,203 28,485 29,055

33 29,033 29,323 29,909

34 29,854 30,153         30,756

520 - 559 11 34 29,854 30,153 30,756

35 30,480 30,785 31,401

36 31,288 31,601 32,233

37 32,164 32,486 33,136

560 - 589 12 35 30,480 30,785 31,401

36 31,288 31,601 32,233

37 32,164 32,486 33,136

38 33,106 33,437 34,106

590 - 614 13 39 34,196 34,538 35,229

40 35,093 35,444 36,153

41 36,019 36,379 37,107

615- 634 14 42 36,937 37,306 38,052

43 37,858 38,237 39,002

44 38,789 39,177 39,961

POINTS GRADE SCALE POINT 1 Apr 16 1 Apr 17 1 Apr 18
635+ 15 45 39,660 40,057 40,858

46 40,619 41,025 41,846

47 41,551 41,967 42,806

48 42,474 42,899 43,757

49 43,387 43,821 44,697

Page 150



Appendix 3:  Staff Composition and Pay 2018/19 

Total staff costs for the year by contract type

Permanent Temporary 
Fixed Term

£000 £000
Wages and Salaries 2,288 282
Social Security Costs 211 16
Other Pensions Costs 500 55
Total 2,998 353

Number of full-time equivalent staff employed by Pay Scale and Contract Type

Pay Band Permanent Casual Temporary Fixed 
Term

Trainee 0.8

Grade 1 2.0

Grade 2 0.5

Grade 3

Grade 4 1.4 1.0 1.0

Grade 5 7.3 3.5 0.5

Grade 6 8.6 2.0

Grade 7 5.0

Grade 8 11.7 3.6

Grade 9 17.9 1.0

Grade 10 5.5

Grade 11 3.0

Grade 12 6.0

Grade 13 6.0

Grade 14 3.0

Grade 15 3.0

Chief Officer 0.2

Director 1.0

Chief Executive 1.0

Page 151



Total 84.0 4.5 8.9

At 31/3/19, the number of full time equivalent staff employed by pay scale and by 
job role:

Pay Grade CEO Chief 
Officers

Professional/ 
Clerical

Manual/ 
Wardens/ 

Estate 
Warden 

Staff

Total

Apprentice 0.8 0.8

1 2.0 2.0

2 0.5 0.5

3

4 3.4 3.4
5 8.3 3.0 11.3
6 6.6 4.0 10.6
7 2.0 3.0 5.0
8 14.3 1.0 15.3
9 14.9 4.0 18.9
10 5.5 5.5
11 3.0 3.0
12 6.0 6.0
13 6.0 6.0
14 3.0 3.0
15 3.0 3.0

Chief Officer  0.2 0.2

Director 1.0 1.0

CEO 1.0 1.0

Total 1.0 1.2 76.9 17.5 96.6

Page 152



At 31/3/19 the number of staff employed by pay grade and gender

Pay Band Male Female

 Headcount % FTE % Headcount % FTE %

Trainee 1 2.4 0.8 2.2
Grade 1 3 4.2 2.0 3.4
Grade 2 1 1.4 0.5 0.9
Grade 4 4 5.6 3.4 5.8
Grade 5 4 9.8 3.5 9.3 12 16.7 7.8 13.2
Grade 6 5 12.2 5.0 13.3 7 9.7 5.6 9.6
Grade 7 3 7.3 3.0 8.0 2 2.8 2.0 3.4
Grade 8 7 17.1 5.2 13.7 14 19.2 10.1 17.2
Grade 9 8 19.6 8.0 20.9 11 15.3 10.9 18.5
Grade 10 2 4.9 2.0 5.3 4 5.6 3.5 5.9
Grade 11 2 4.9 2.0 5.3 1 1.4 1.0 1.7
Grade 12 2 4.9 2.0 5.3 5 6.9 4.0 6.8
Grade 13 2 4.9 2.0 5.3 4 5.6 4.0 6.8
Grade 14 1 2.4 1.0 2.7 2 2.8 2.0 3.4
Grade 15 1 2.4 1.0 2.7 2 2.8 2.0 3.4

Chief 
Officer 1 2.4 0.2 2.7

Director 1 2.4 1.0 2.7

CEO 1 2.4 1.0 2.7

Total 41 100 37.7 100 72 100 58.9 100

Termination payments made during 2018/19 

Payment Value band                        
£

Number of 
payments

TOTAL 
VALUE

£000
Chief Officers and other 
Staff

0 – 20,000 4 27

Page 153



This page is intentionally left blank



Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales Draft Report 2020/21

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority 

Date 29 October 2019

Report Author
Julia Gruffydd 

Job title Democratic Services Manager 

Contact Details 01874 620400
julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk 

Purpose of Report To advise members of changes to the member allowance 
scheme proposed by the IRPW and agree any response to 
the Panel on the draft report

Single Integrated 
Assessment

N/A

List of  Enclosures Enc. 1 Covering letter from Chair of IRPW

Enc. 2 Draft Policy for payment of cost of care

Link to full report:  https://gov.wales/independent-
remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2020-2021 
(see report below for specific information on National Park 
Authorities

Public Interest Test N/A

Recommendation(s) To consider the proposals made by the IRPW for 
increases and changes to the member allowance 
scheme for 2020/21 and agree:

a) Any corporate response to be forwarded by 10 
December 2019

b) Additional guidance on the cost of care 
allowance.

Page 155

Agenda Item 14

mailto:julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk
https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2020-2021
https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2020-2021
https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2020-2021
https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-draft-annual-report-2020-2021


1.1 Introduction or Background

The Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales (‘the Panel’) is responsible for setting 
the scheme of allowances for all members of National Park Authorities and has just 
published its annual report for 2020-21.  It has requested any response to be forwarded 
by 10 December 2019.  

A link to the full report is given above.  Sections relating specifically to National Park 
Authorities are:

Basic Salary Page 27
Senior Salary Page 27
Committee chairs Page 27
Costs of Care Page 36
Sickness absence Page 37
Mileage/travel Page 39
Subsistence Page 40
Co-optees Page 34
Additional allowances Page 28

The Chairs and Deputy Chairs of principal committees of the Authority met with 
representatives of the Panel on 16 April 2019 where they raised issues which had been 
highlighted by members, specifically costs of care.

The Panel notes the impact of the proposed changes on public perception but considers 
that it is a matter of ‘balancing issues of affordability and public perception with fairness 
to members for their time, worth and responsibility’.

1.2 Proposals

The Panel has taken the view that members should be appropriately remunerated for 
the duties they carry out, while mindful of the need to balance affordability and public 
perception.  For this reason they have recommended an increase in the Basic Salary 
across all authorities.

Regarding the role of National Park Authority members the Panel has suggested that the 
number of days commitment on which the remuneration is based be increased from 42 
to 44 days.  At present there is considerable variation in the number of days committed 
by individual members (1 January to 17 October 2019):

Page 156



Detailed proposals affecting National Park Authorities are as follows, with the financial 
implications shown in Fig. 1:

 Increase in Basic Allowance of £275pa 
 Increase in Chair’s salary of £60pa
 No increase in Deputy Chair of NPA or two committee chairs
 Flexibility to make the case to the Panel for additional senior salaries (details of 

what this would entail are given on page 28 of the report)
 No changes to travel and subsistence
 No change to co-opted member allowances (ie. independent members of 

Standards Committee) but more guidance given to the definition of approved 
duties for these members (to include pre-meetings, attendance at conferences)

 Present as Expected Notes
Member Count Percentage%
Malcolm Colbran 10 83 Member since May 2019
Christopher Coppock 36 95
Emily Durrant 18 58
Member Count Percentage%
Edward Evans 19 53
Steven Evans 8 67 Member since May 2019
Mathew Feakins 13 45
John Hill 26 70 Period of sick leave taken
Sue Holden 22 65
Andrew James 17 52
Michael Jones 20 61
Karen Laurie-Parry 24 63
Kevin Madge 24 69
James Marsden 33 94
Iain McIntosh 28 74
Susan McNicholas 21 72
Deborah Perkin 22 69
Phil Pritchard 12 43
Gareth Ratcliffe 28 72
Edwin Roderick 38 84
Ian Rowat 29 76
Julian Stedman 38 95
Graham Thomas 28 80
Ann Webb 25 76
NB. Members often attend more than one meeting on a day

Page 157



Senior Salaries

The Panel has removed the option for the Authority to decide which of two salary 
levels it awards to the Deputy Chair of the Authority and the Chairs of PAROW and 
Audit and Scrutiny Committee, and has prescribed one level of salary only.  It has 
determined that if the Authority appoints a Deputy Chair that post must be 
remunerated.  The Authority already does this. 

In terms of additional senior salaries the Panel received feedback during their visits to 
the three National Park Authorities that limiting these to two additional committee 
chairs could be restrictive.  Greater flexibility is given to principal authorities to apply 
for additional senior salaries.  Such applications would need to be approved by the 
Authority as a whole (not delegated) prior to submission, and evidence provided on 
additional responsibility as set out in the role, function and duration.  Each application 
would also need to indicate the timing for a formal review of the role to be considered 
by the Authority.

The Authority may wish to consider any changes it wishes to make to the allocation of 
senior salaries based on the future business needs and governance structures. 

Cost of care

Members will recall that the Authority had some debate about this allowance in 
December 2018 in relation to remunerating members for cost of care necessary to 
enable preparation for meetings.  The following resolutions were passed:

a) To approve preparation for defined meetings as an approved duty for the purposes of 
claiming costs of care;

b) To raise the detail of the proposed policy with the Independent Remuneration Panel 
for Wales when they visited the Authority in January 2019 with a view to considering 
the policy at a future Authority meeting.

The issue was raised with the Panel on 16 April 2019 and a request made for more 
guidance in the next Annual Report. Similar requests have been made by other principal 
authorities in Wales. While the Panel has still stopped short of prescribing fixed 
guidance for authorities it has now specified that the Authority can decide what 
constitutes an approved duty, which may include preparation and travelling time.  While 
cost of care is payable only against receipts from a carer it is assumed that the Panel will 
encourage authorities to pay all reasonable claims for preparation time. However, in 
order to formalise this and ensure consistency the Authority may wish to revisit the 

Page 158



draft policy that was put before the Authority in December 2018 (attached for 
reference).

1.3 Implications

The proposals from the Panel would have the following financial implications:  

Fig 1
Allowance Current 

(£)
Proposed 
(£)

Implications

Basic Salary 3735 4010 This would add £6600 to the 
budget (£275 per member pa)

Senior Salaries
Chair of NPA 12375 12715 Inclusive of Basic Salary (£8705 

exc)  - £60 pa increase
Deputy Chair NPA 7435 7710
Chair PAROW 7435 7710
Chair ASC 7435 7710

Inclusive of Basic Salary so no net 
increase

Total additional cost to 
budget

£6660

If the Authority were to consider making a case for additional senior salaries there 
would be a cost of £3700 per post.

When the Authority reduces to 18 members the proposed salary increase will reduce 
the savings budgeted for in 2020-21. 

1.4 Risk

Individual authorities cannot make a decision on the levels of remuneration and are 
bound by the Panel’s framework.  Only an individual member may communicate in 
writing to the Proper Officer, if, as an individual, they wish to decline all or any part 
payment to which they are entitled.  The Authority makes clear this option to all its 
members on induction.

1.5 Conclusion

The Authority is asked to consider the proposed changes and their impact.  A 
corporate response can be sent to the Panel if it wishes, but it is also open to individual 
members to make representations.

Page 159



Members are also asked if they wish to revisit the draft Cost of Care Policy in the light 
of the Panel’s view that it is up to individual authorities to determine the specific 
arrangements for implementation of the cost of care allowance.

RECOMMENDATIONS: To consider the proposals made by the IRPW for 
increases and changes to the member allowance scheme for 2020/21 and 
agree:

a) Any corporate response to be forwarded by 10 December 2019

b) Additional guidance on the cost of care allowance.

Page 160



 

To:  

Leaders and Chief Executives of County and County Borough Councils  

Chairs and Chief Executives of National Park Authorities  

Chairs and Clerks of Fire and Rescue Authorities  

Chair and Chief Executive of One Voice Wales  

Leader and Chief Executive of Welsh Local Government Association  

Head of Democratic/Members Services of County and County  

Borough Councils, National Park Authorities and Fire and Rescue Authorities  

Community & Town Councils 

 

15 October 2019 

 

Dear Colleague 
 
Independent Remuneration for Wales – Annual Report 2020/21 
 
The Panel’s draft Annual Report for 2020/21 is attached. We would appreciate and welcome 
comments during the consultation period which ends on 10 December 2019. 
 
Earlier in the year the Panel visited The National Park Authorities (NPAs) and the Fire and 
Rescue Authorities (FRAs). We have taken account of the issues that were raised during the 
visits. We have also met with a significant number of Community and Town Councils.  
 
The draft Report contains proposed changes to our remuneration framework including an 
increase in the basic salary to elected members of principal councils and both NPAs and 
FRAs 
 
We will consider all of the responses to this draft prior to producing the final Report for 
publication in February 2020. 
 
 
Yours sincerely 

 
John Bader  
Chair 

Page 161



This page is intentionally left blank



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Draft Policy on Cost of Care Allowance

Purpose of Policy

To provide additional clarification and guidance to members claiming the costs of care as set 
out in the Authority’s Schedule of Member Remuneration.

Eligibility of Members

Any member who meets the following criteria set out by the Independent Remuneration 
Panel for Wales is eligible to claim for cost of care:

7.1 Reimbursement of costs of care shall be paid to a Member or Co-opted Member, 
who has caring responsibility for dependent children or adults, or a personal care 
requirement, provided the Member incurs expenses in the provision of such care 
whilst undertaking ‘approved’ council duties. 

 
7.2 Reimbursement of costs of care applies in respect of children who are aged 15 or 

under and other persons for whom the Member or Co-opted Member can show 
that care is required. If a Member or Co-opted Member has more than one 
dependent the Member may claim more than one allowance, provided the Member 
can demonstrate a need to make separate arrangements for care. 

Eligibility of Claims:  Approved Duties

The Authority is guided by the definition of ‘approved duties’ as set out in The Local 
Authorities (Allowances for Members) (Wales) Regulations 2007.

Under Clause (h) it has determined that preparation for meetings shall be eligible for 
claiming costs of care as according to the following criteria:

a) Attending informal briefings/meetings with officers in the Authority’s office (either at 
the member’s or the officers’ request);

b) Preparation for meetings (as defined in c) below) in the member’s home to include 
reading agendas, papers, Chairs’ briefing notes, preparation of materials and 
emailing/telephoning officers in relation to the business of the meeting;

c) Preparation for the following committees will be eligible for claims:  the Authority, 
Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee, Audit and Scrutiny Committee and 
Policy Forum;

d) One claim of up to 4 hours preparation undertaken at home will be eligible for each 
meeting, the date of the meeting and the time spent on preparation to be clearly 
stated in the claim.

Claim Procedure

The Schedule of Remuneration states the following:

Page 163

https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD300&ID=300&RPID=1317878
https://governance.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD300&ID=300&RPID=1317878
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2007/1086/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2007/1086/contents/made


7.3 Eligible Members may claim reimbursement of costs of care for actual and receipted 
costs up to a maximum amount not exceeding that determined by the Independent 
Remuneration Panel for Wales as set out in Schedule 1*.  All claims for 
reimbursement of costs of care should be made in writing to Democratic Services 
detailing times, dates and reasons for claim for audit purposes.  Receipts are 
required for both informal and formal care arrangements.

*The maximum amount that any member may claim in a month per dependent is £403 per 
dependent.

Cost of Care claims and receipts should be submitted with the member’s claim for mileage 
and subsistence by the 5th of each month, using the claim forms and receipt forms provided.  
Different forms must be used for each calendar month.

For members appointed by local authorities claims will be checked with the relevant officer 
in that authority to avoid any duplication of claims.  If claims are found retrospectively to 
have been duplicated the member will be asked to make a repayment to the Authority.

Any queries about this policy should be made to the Democratic Services Manager on 
01874 620400 or julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk 

Page 164

mailto:julia.gruffydd@beacons-npa.gov.uk


Amendment to the Planning Protocol

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority

Date 29th October 2019

Report Author
Tracy Nettleton

Job title Planning and Heritage Manager

Contact Details E-mail: tracy.nettleton@beacons-npa.gov.uk
Tel:  01874 620431

Purpose of Report To provide clarification as to the procedure to follow where 
a member withdraws a call in request for an application to be 
determined by PAROW Committee

Single Integrated 
Assessment

The proposed amendment will lead to improved governance 
by enabling a clearer and more transparent  decision making 
process for planning service users, members and officers

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1.  Planning Protocol

Public Interest Test

Recommendation(s) a) To approve the amendment to the Planning   
Protocol

1.1 Introduction or Background

The adopted Planning Protocol is used by the Authority to govern the performance of its 
planning function. The Protocol has the following objectives:

 To guide Members and Officers of the Authority in dealing with 
planning related matters

Page 165

Agenda Item 15



 To provide more detailed guidance on the standards to be applied 
specifically in relation to planning matters

 To apply internal rules to the way in which the Authority will deal with 
planning matters

 To inform potential users of the planning service, and members of 
the public generally, of the standards adopted by the Authority in 
the performance of its planning function.

1.2 Proposals

Following an investigation into a complaint relating to the determination of a recent    
planning application, it was recommended that the procedure by which a member 
subsequently withdraws a call in request for an application to be determined by 
PAROW Committee should be clarified. The most appropriate place to provide this 
clarification is in the Planning Protocol.

1.3 Implications

The amendment proposed at Section 10 of the Planning Protocol in Enclosure 1 will  
enable members, officers and users of the planning service to be clear on the procedure.

1.4 Risk

By not including the amendment it will remain unclear how the issue will be dealt with 
and could lead to further complaints in the future

1.5 Conclusion

The proposed amendment will provide helpful clarity and certainty for members, officers 
and service users in regard to this matter.

RECOMMENDATION(S):

a) To approve the amendment to the Planning Protocol

Page 166



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Planning Protocol

Approved on 30 January 2004

Reviewed, updated and approved 20 May 2010 Reviewed, updated and 

approved 28 September 2012 Reviewed, updated and approved 22 

May 2015 

Reviewed, updated and approved (date)

Page 167



Next Review Date: 2020 

Page 168



BBNPA Planning Protocol – April 2016 2

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY PLANNING

PROTOCOL

CONTENTS Page

1.0 Introduction 3

Purpose 3

Application 4

Code of Conduct 4

2.0 Lobbying 5

3.0 Membership of another Local Authority 7

4.0 Formal Site Visits 7

5.0 Meetings of the Planning and Rights of Way Committee
(PAROW) 8

6.0 Decisions Contrary to Officer Recommendations
and/or the Development Plan 11

7.0    Development Proposals by Members/Officers 12

8.0 Training and Monitoring 13

9.0 Complaints/Record-Keeping 13

10.0 Call-In 14

Page 169



BBNPA Planning Protocol – April 2016 3

Planning Protocol

1.0 Introduction

Purpose

1.1 This Planning Protocol has been adopted by the Brecon Beacons National Park
Authority to govern the performance of its planning function. The Protocol has the 
following objectives:

 To guide Members and Officers of the Authority in dealing with 
planning related matters

 To provide more detailed guidance on the standards to be applied 
specifically in relation to planning matters

 To apply internal rules to the way in which the Authority will deal with 
planning matters

 To inform potential users of the planning service, and members of 
the public generally, of the standards adopted by the Authority in 
the performance of its planning function.

1.2 The Planning Protocol is separate from, and in addition to, the Authority’s Code of
Conduct for Members which was adopted by the Authority on 27 June 2008 
some provisions of the Protocol may to a certain extent deal with issues 
which are also dealt with by the Code of Conduct. It aims to reflect the Local 
Government Association’s update to its guidance entitled “Probity in 
Planning” – for councilors and officers (2013)

1.3 It is useful to include here the following extract from the LGA guidance -

One of the key aims of the planning system is to balance private interests in the 
development of land against the wider public interest. In performing this role, 
planning necessarily affects land and property interests, particularly the financial 
value of landholdings and the quality of their settings. Opposing views are often 
strongly held by those involved.

Whilst councillors must take account of these views, they should not favour any 
person, company, group or locality, nor put themselves in a position where they 
may appear to be doing so. It is important, therefore, that planning authorities make 
planning decisions affecting these interests openly, impartially, with sound 
judgement and for justifiable reasons.   

1.4 This amended Protocol was reviewed, amended and approved by the full Authority
on revised date . It applies from that date.

1.5 The provisions of this Planning Protocol are designed to ensure that whenever
Members consider a matter relating to the planning function, all decisions are 
taken on proper planning grounds and are taken in a consistent and open 
manner and that Members making such decisions are perceived as accountable 

Page 170



BBNPA Planning Protocol – April 2016 4

for those decisions. The Planning Protocol is also designed to assist Members 
in dealing with approaches from applicants/developers and third parties and is 
intended to ensure that the decision-making process is sound. In this way the 
prospect of legal challenge or Planning Protocol is also designed to assist 
Members in dealing with approaches from applicants/developers and third 
parties and is intended to ensure that the decision-making process is sound. In 
this way the prospect of legal challenge or complaint against the Authority, its 
individual Members or officers in making proper planning decisions is limited.

1.6 Whilst Members have a personal responsibility to ensure that they conduct
themselves at all times within the requirements of this protocol, the 
Authority’s Officers, including the Monitoring Officer, should be consulted if 
Members are in any doubt as to the application of the requirements of the 
protocol in any circumstances.

Application

1.7 The following guidance should be followed by all Members not only in respect of the
formulation and adoption of development plan policies but also in respect of 
development management functions (planning applications of all types 
including listed building consent, certificates of lawful use, notifications and 
the determination of all enforcement matters etc.). It applies to meetings of 
the Authority when dealing with such matters and it applies to the conduct of 
Members even before a formal application or proposal is submitted.

1.8 Failure to comply with this Planning Protocol may result, or play a significant part, in

 the investigation of complaints of maladministration or allegations of 
failure to observe the Code of Conduct for Members by the Public 
Services Ombudsman for Wales

 complaints to the Authority’s Standards Committee
 judicial review proceedings in the High Court
 appeals to the  Welsh Government  (eg in respect of any awards of costs)
 complaints about the conduct of officers.

An alleged failure by a Member to comply with this Protocol may be referred to 
the Authority’s Standards Committee. Other alleged failures shall be dealt with 
through the Authority’s complaints procedure.

1.9 This Protocol applies to both Members and Officers who become involved in
operating the planning system – it is not, therefore, restricted to professional 
Town Planners and National Park Authority and Planning, Access and Rights 
of Way (PAROW) Committee Members. The successful operation of the 
planning system relies on mutual trust and understanding of each other's role. 
It also relies on each ensuring that they act in a way which is not only fair 
and impartial but is also clearly seen to be so.

Page 171



BBNPA Planning Protocol – April 2016 5

Code of Conduct

1.10 The Authority’s Code of Conduct for Members which includes mandatory 
requirements with regard to personal interests must be complied with 
throughout the decision-making process. Members should also have regard to 
guidance issued by the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales. Decisions 
should not be influenced by
personal interests of Members (including the interests of those with whom 
they live, by whom they are employed or with whom they otherwise have a 
close personal association) or because of undue pressure exerted by 
applicants, agents or third parties such as Town or Community Councils. It 
is necessary to avoid even giving the impression that decisions may have been 
so influenced.

1.11 The responsibility for disclosing a personal interest rests with individual Members. A
similar responsibility applies to Officers. In the event of uncertainty, Members 
should seek advice on the application of the Code from the Monitoring 
Officer. Early notification of disclosure interests is particularly important to 
allow proper consideration of the issues. This Planning Protocol outlines 
further rules applicable to the planning process in the Authority.

1.12 In addition to the Authority’s Code of Conduct, Members should be mindful 
that Planning Officers  should  be conducting themselves and the advice they 
give, in accordance with the Royal Town Planning Institute (RTPI) Code of 
Professional Conduct. Those Officers who are members of the RTPI are 
bound by this code and those who are not yet members will be encouraged 
to become members and will aspire to the code.

2 .0  LOBBYING

2.1 This section is intended to ensure –

 that high standards are maintained when planning decisions are taken;
 that the integrity of the decision-making process is not impaired, either 

in reality or in perception, through the lobbying of those Members who 
will make decisions;

 that the fact that approaches have been made by lobbyists* are recorded, 
and that any representations made to Members form part of the public 
information leading to any decision.

(*in this protocol “lobbyist”, “interested person(s)/party(ies)”  includes the applicant, 
supporters, objectors, agents,  family members and family relatives by marriage etc.).

2.2 To avoid compromising their position in making a decision before they have received
all the relevant information, Members must –

 Take care in any contact with interested parties* to ensure that they are 
not unduly influenced in any way by one party or another and to avoid 

Page 172



making it known in advance whether they support or oppose the proposal. 
If possible any meetings with Members should be arranged by and attended 
by an appropriate Planning Officer and will include the Chair of the 
PAROW Committee or his/her representative;

 Not advise interested parties or their agents on the likely acceptability of 
planning proposals;

Page 173



BBNPA Planning Protocol – April 2016 6

 Restrict their views to giving procedural advice and listening to concerns 
and views;

 Direct lobbyists to Planning Officers, and to provide their comments in 
writing to the relevant Planning Officer who will include reference to 
their comments , where relevant, in their report;

 Not organise support for or against a planning proposal;
 Not lobby other Members;
 Not pressurise Officers to make a particular recommendation in their 

report;
 Not circulate unofficial papers to other Members or  to PAROW 

Committee meetings;
 Not attend the application site with interested parties or their 

representatives.
 Not allow those with whom they live, by whom they are employed or 

with whom they otherwise have a close personal association to exert 
undue influence on their decision making.

2.3 Where a Member, involved in determining planning matters has been lobbied, he/she 
should report to the relevant Committee
that he/she has been lobbied and by whom. However, Members must act in 
the public interest and not at the behest of any individual or interest. If the 
Member feels that he/she no longer retains an open mind on  a planning 
matter, or that his/her impartiality has been compromised, he/she should act 
as if they had a prejudicial interest and withdraw from the meeting. If a 
Member feels that they are subject to excessive lobbying, they should contact 
the Monitoring Officer for advice.

2.4 If a Member involved in determining planning matters has responded to lobbying by
openly advocating a particular course of action prior to a Committee meeting, 
and there may be particular local circumstances where this is considered 
appropriate, that Member should act as if they had a prejudicial interest and 
withdraw from the meeting.

2.5 Members involved in determining planning matters who find themselves in a lobbying
situation may wish to take steps to prevent this happening, and explain that 
whilst they can listen to what is said, they are constrained from expressing 
a firm point of view or an intention to vote one way or another.

2.6 Where Members involved in the determination of planning matters are in attendance
at public meetings, they may listen to the debate on current planning matters 
and may provide advice about such matters as the procedures involved in 
determining an application, considering unauthorised development, etc. 
Where Members find it appropriate to express a view on a matter in such 
meetings so as to indicate that they have made up their mind on the proposal, 
for example they should then act as if they had a prejudicial interest and 
withdraw from the meeting when the matter is discussed.

Page 174



2.7      Where a Member receives written representations directly in relation to a   planning 
matter, local plan proposal, enforcement issue etc, the Member shall as soon 
as practical pass the correspondence to the Planning Case Officer in order 
that those representations may be taken into account in any report to the 

Page 175



BBNPA Planning Protocol – April 2016 7

Committee. This does not apply to circular letters which indicate that copies have also 
been sent to the Authority itself.

2.8 Where there is a family relationship directly or by marriage related to a 
planning application or a development plan policy/proposal, Members should act as if 
they had a prejudicial interest and withdraw.

3.0 Membership of another Local Authority

3.1 A Member who is also a member of a town, community or other council 
may discuss a planning matter at that level.

3.2 If at the other council’s meeting, or indeed elsewhere, the Member has given   
the impression that he/she has made up his/her mind during the debate or in 
the voting on a particular planning matter before hearing all the information and 
advice presented later at the Authority’s meeting, then they are likely to be 
considered as having predetermined the matter (i.e. having a closed mind).

3 .3 In these c ircumstances ,  the Member should not part ic ipate at  the 
PAROW Committee meeting when the particular planning matter is 
discussed. Otherwise, such participation could lead to a complaint of 
maladministration or other legal challenge of the Committee’s decision.

4.0 Formal Site Visits

4.1 Formal site visits should only be made in relation to any undetermined 
planning or related application to be determined by Committee. As part of 
the formal decision making process the PAROW Committee may decide that 
a formal site visit should be made if it is wholly satisfied that one of the 
following circumstance applies

  Before any public speaking in relation to the proposal, it is considered 
the application requires the judgement of Members based on site 
characteristics or visual interpretation which cannot readily be seen from 
photographs, slides etc. – eg impact on amenity; effect on highway safety 
and traffic flows; effect on the character of the area; effect on the 
character or setting of a listed building or conservation area; effect on 
townscape or landscape; and/or

 The proposal relates to a new or novel form of development and which 
may require a visit to an existing establishment as well as to the proposal 
site in order to appreciate the potential planning implications; and/or

 Development has been commenced or completed, which if refused planning 
permission would normally require enforcement action and a site 
inspection would assist in determining the expediency of such action.

4.2 In exceptional circumstances, at the discretion of the Heritage and Planning 
Manager in consultation with the Chief Executive and as agreed with the Chair 
or Deputy Chair of PAROW Committee,  when the planning matter is 
particularly contentious and/or is of a scale that would be likely to have a 

Page 176



significant impact on the area in terms of natural beauty, cultural heritage, 
environmental assets, transport or public well being and there would be clear 
and substantial benefit of a site visit, then  a site visit will be conveyed PRIOR 
to a PAROW Committee meeting, when an undetermined planning or other 
related application is to be discussed.

4.3 The minutes of PAROW shall record the reason for the proposed site visit. 
Any Member of the PAROW Committee is able to request a formal site visit 
provided their request is in accordance with the above criteria.

Any Public Speakers who are in attendance at a PAROW Committee Meeting 
where Members have determined that a site visit will take place, will be 
offered the choice to make their presentations at that meeting or at the 
subsequent meeting of PAROW Committee. The site visit shall be attended by 
the Chair and/or Deputy Chair, the Member who proposed the site visit and 
at least one other local government and one other Welsh Government 
appointed member. All remaining members of PAROW who are available can 
also attend. .  

4.4 The Planning and Heritage Manager and the Planning Support Service shall organise 
such site visits. The letter/email informing Members of the date, and location 
of the formal site visit shall include the reason for the site visit, the meeting 
point and an attached plan of the meeting point if required. The site visit will 
take place on or before the next available PAROW Committee. The Planning 
Support Service will be expected to ensure that safe access is available to 
the site for Members and Officers on the day, in accordance with a 
previously completed risk assessment.

4.6 The applicant and/or agent will be informed of the following matters: –

 that a site visit will take place
 that the purpose of the site visit is that Members should have the fullest 

appreciation of: the nature of the site and the environmental impacts of 
the proposed development; and

 that Members will not entertain  any representations from the applicant or any 
representation from a third party, if present at the site visit.

Where clarification would be helpful, and with the agreement of the Chair or Deputy 
Chair of PAROW, the applicant, and/or agent acting on behalf of the applicant 
will be invited to attend the relevant part of the site visit, if required to allow 
access to the site and to answer any factual queries raised by Members. 
Officers shall advise the agent and/or applicant that attendance at the site 
meeting is not an opportunity to discuss the planning merits of the case, but 
rather to enable Members to gain a better appreciation of the site 
characteristics. In addition, Officers will invite relevant Officers from within 
the NPA and the constituent Unitary Authorities or public bodies (e.g. Local 
Highway Authority, Drainage Authority, sewerage undertaker or Natural 
Resources Wales) to the site visit, in order to answer any technical questions 
from Members.

Page 177



4.7 Any formally arranged site visits shall be operated as a formal meeting of the Authority 
and in accordance with the following procedures:

 The Chair or Deputy Chair  of the PAROW Committee will chair and 
manage the site visit;

 Members shall keep together as a group and shall not engage individually in 
discussion with anyone who is not formally present as part of the site visit;

 Officers will be requested by the Chair or Deputy Chair of PAROW to 
identify those aspects which determined the need for the site visit.   Members 
will be given an opportunity to ask questions of Officers, the Officers from 
other public bodies and/or  the applicant/Agent acting on behalf of the 
applicant;

 Members should ensure that the site visit has addressed their queries in 
order to l formulate their views on those aspects which determined the 
need for a site visit. Such views should not be discussed in the presence of 
the applicant and/or agent or any third party. ;

Page 178



The Planning Support Service will record the matters raised by Members and 
responses raised. These notes will be circulated to the Chair and Deputy Chair and 
Officers in attendance for approval prior to being reported to the next available 
PAROW Committee for formal approval. Any approved changes to the notes will be 
incorporated into the approved notes of the meeting.  

5.0 Meetings of the Planning and Rights of Way Committee

5.1 The Town and Country Planning Act 1990, Section 54A and Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004, Section 38(6) state that “Applications for planning permission, 
or for the renewal of planning permission, should be determined in accordance with 
the approved or adopted development plan for the area, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise”. Thus, where the Development Plan is relevant, 
the Authority must determine applications in accordance with the plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. This statutory requirement is a 
fundamental principle for the Authority’s approach to decision-making.

5.2 The Development Plan is the adopted Plan for the area which in this case is the 
Local Development Plan (December 2013).

5.3 PAROW Agendas will contain reports on:

a) ‘Items for Decision’ - comprising applications (both planning applications 
and rights of way diversions) and any other Development Management 
related matters upon which Members are required to make a decision, and;

b) ‘Items for Noting’ - upon which a decision has already been taken under 
Delegated Powers. Members may engage in debate or ask Officers questions 
about ‘Items For Noting’

Non-Delegated application reports are full reports covering all material 
considerations (in planning terms) and issues to enable Members to make a 
decision on an application. Case law indicates that Planning Officer reports to 
Planning Committee are not and should not be intended to provide a learned 
disquisition of relevant legal principles which repeat each and every detail of 
the relevant facts to Members of the Committee who are responsible for the 
decision. Reports to the Planning and Rights of Way Committee should be 
prepared, on behalf of the Planning and Heritage Manager as follows -

 Reports should be accurate and cover, amongst other things, a summary of the 
substance of any third party comments and the views of those consulted, as 
recommended by the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales.

 Relevant information should include a clear, concise and comprehensive 
explanation of the relevant national policy and guidance, development plan; site or 
related history; and any other material considerations.

 Reports should contain technical conclusions which clearly justify the 
recommendation. Page 179



BBNPA Planning Protocol – April 2016 10

 If the report's recommendation is contrary to the provisions of the 
development plan, the material considerations which justify the departure 
must be clearly stated.

 Reports shall be in writing and shall have a written recommendation of 
action. Oral reporting of additional information and/or representation 
not already included in the report (except to update a report or 
summarise a late representation) should be avoided and carefully minuted 
when it does occur.

5.4 The relevant Case Officer, or an Officer on their behalf, shall provide a brief summary 
presentation of each non-delegated planning application on the agenda, to 
include a visual presentation of the site location, plans illustrating the 
proposals, photographs and any other visual presentations considered 
appropriate. Officers shall presume that Members have reviewed the non-
delegated reports prior to the meeting and thus shall only provide a brief 
summary of the key matters and recommendation.

5.5 Members of the public may speak in relation to ‘Items for Decision’ and notice to
speak must be given in accordance with the ‘Public Speaking Scheme’.  There shall 
be no public speaking in relation to ‘Items for Noting’. Members who have 
declared a personal and prejudicial interest in a particular matter may still apply 
to speak under the Authority’s Public Speaking Scheme. They are also able to 
apply to the Standards Committee for Dispensation to Speak (see Members 
Dispensation Policy for details).

5.6 The Monitoring Officer or a suitably qualified alternative should always attend the
meeting to ensure that procedures have been properly followed.

5.7 The Chair and/or Deputy Chair of PAROW Committee should attend a briefing 
session with Officers prior to a PAROW Committee meeting, to assist the 
effective conduct of the Committee meeting.

Representations

5.8.1  From time to time Members of PAROW may receive correspondence and 
other relevant information from persons or groups who have an interest in 
the outcome of a planning application to be determined and there may be 
pressure to respond. A member will occasionally receive a significant 
amount of unsolicited correspondence and other information on more 
contentious applications. Members are advised not to reply or respond to 
this correspondence but instead forward it to the Planning and Heritage 
Manager in order that the information can be reviewed and any new or 
relevant information brought to the attention of all Members at the 
meeting.

Page 180



BBNPA Planning Protocol – April 2016 11

5.8.2  The officer’s report to PAROW Committee will contain a summary of  
matters raised by third parties received prior to the Agenda being published. 
Any correspondence received after the agenda is circulated is currently 
reported verbally at Committee. This means that late correspondence is 
sometimes afforded greater significance than letters received within the 
report writing deadline as they are read out at the meeting and are the last 
piece of information Members hear before they make a decision. Further, the 
process does not allow Officers or Members the opportunity to fully 
consider any issues that are raised, which may lead to an item being 
deferred.

5.8.3 To address this anomaly and in the interests of fairness, from 1 May 2016, 
correspondence received after the PAROW agenda has been published will 
be reported in the following structured way: any correspondence (hard 
copy or electronic) received by members and/or officers within three 
working days of the committee will be disregarded as too late. This is 
subject to the 21 day minimum consultation period having elapsed (or 
further period in the case of re-consultation). These letters will not be filed 
and will be disregarded unless in exceptional circumstances where a new 
issue is raised that has not previously been considered and which may 
affect the decision to be taken. This will be at the discretion of the Planning 
and Heritage Manager in consultation with the Chief Executive Officer and 
as agreed with the Chair or Deputy Chair  of PAROW.

5.8.4  For the avoidance of doubt, PAROW Committees take place on Tuesdays. 
The cutoff date for late correspondence is 5pm on the preceding 
Thursday. This procedure will allow at least two clear working days for 
late correspondence to be collated and reported to Members with the 
appropriate officer advice.

5.8.5  Late correspondence received before the deadline i.e. after the agenda has 
been published but before 5pm on the Thursday preceding the meeting of 
PAROW, will be reported orally at the meeting giving it such prominence 
and weight as its relevance requires. On occasions, the new information 
may be so substantial as to lead to a deferment of the application. Where 
the Planning Application is not deferred the Chairman will allow Members 
an appropriate period of time to read the new material before proceeding 
with consideration of the item. The Planning Officer shall be responsible for 
reporting any correspondence or new information of relevance to the 
PAROW Committee.

5.9       Members have a duty to take into account any representations made to the
Authority as a result of consultation with interested bodies or as a result of 
public notice or neighbour notification. In doing so it is necessary to decide 
which representations are material to the decision to be made, and, if so, what 
weight to attach to them. This conclusion should not be reached until all 
information and argument has been presented and considered.

5.10  Care should be taken by Members before introducing new information into 
the debate at the PAROW Committee, as that might lead to consideration 

Page 181



of a matter being deferred, or the PAROW Committee taking a decision 
on the basis of information which subsequently proves to be incorrect. 
Where a Member receives relevant information in respect of an 
application which is not contained in the Committee report, wherever 
possible the Member should immediately advise the Planning and Heritage 
Manager or the application Case Officer directly so that the information can be taken 
into consideration before the meeting.

5.11 In the event of a material revision to any planning application being received after
preparation of the Committee report the Chair or Deputy Chair  of PAROW 
and Planning and Heritage Manager in consultation with the Chief Executive 
shall consider whether to withdraw the item from the agenda prior to the 
PAROW Committee.

5.12   Where an application proceeds to PAROW and new material information comes to 
light at the meeting, the Committee may decide:

(a) to defer consideration of the application or
(b) delegate the decision following any necessary  re-consultation.

In other cases, where the Planning and Heritage Manager in consultation with 
the Chief Executive, considers that it is appropriate to do so, Officers may 
present new information orally. However, where the information is 
substantial, it will usually be necessary to defer consideration by the 
Committee for a written appraisal to be prepared and presented to a future 
PAROW Committee.

6.0 Decisions Contrary to Officer Recommendations and/or the Development 

Plan

6.1 The Courts have expressed the view that where a Planning Committee makes a
decision contrary to the Officers' recommendation (whether for approval 
or refusal), such reasons should be based on sound planning considerations. 
The personal circumstances of an applicant will rarely provide such grounds.

6.2 Whenever the PAROW Committee is minded to determine a planning application 
contrary to Officer recommendation, the PAROW Committee must clearly 
define and list the planning reasons for rejecting the Officers’ 
recommendation and then vote on those reasons. The reasons must be 
recorded in the minutes and the application will be deferred to the next 
available meeting of the PAROW Committee in accordance with the following 
provisions. .

Page 182



BBNPA Planning Protocol – April 2016 13

6.3 At the subsequent PAROW meeting the Planning and Heritage Manager shall 
respond in a further written report to the reasons formulated by the 
PAROW Committee for not accepting the earlier recommendation. The 
report shall include the following information: –

(a) (where Members are minded to grant permission contrary to  a 
recommendation to refuse) contain draft conditions to be attached to 
the grant of permission and, where appropriate, the terms of any 
appropriate  planning obligation/legal agreement; or

(b) (where Members are minded to refuse permission against a 
recommendation to approve) set out formal reasons for refusal reflecting 
the previous views of the PAROW Committee; advise upon the evidence 
that would be available to substantiate those reasons; and include any other 
reasons for refusal which the Officer consider could be substantiated on 
appeal.

If the PAROW Committee is minded not to accept the subsequent 
recommendation of the Planning and Heritage Manager, then it shall again 
consider its reasons for not accepting the Officers’ advice. Those reasons 
shall then be formally recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

6.4 Applications which are not in accordance with the development plan must be 
identified as    soon as possible. They must then be advertised as such, as 
required by The Town and Country Planning (Notification) (Wales) 
Direction 2012. If it is intended to approve such an application for a 
“notification development’ as defined in the above Direction, the material 
considerations leading to this conclusion must be clearly identified, and how 
these considerations justify overriding the development plan clearly 
demonstrated. If the Officers' report recommends approval the justification 
for this should be included, in full, in that report.

7.0 Development Proposals Submitted by Members and Officers

7.1     Proposals to the Authority by serving and former1 Members and officers and their 
close friends    can easily give rise to suspicions of impropriety. So indeed can 
proposals for the Authority’s own development or where the Authority has an 
interest in the proposed development. Proposals can take the form of either 
planning applications or development plan proposals. In all correspondence and 
meetings etc, such Members and officers should identify their status.

7.2 Serving Members who act as agents for people pursuing a planning matter within the 
Authority must play no part in the decision making process for that proposal. 
Similarly, should Members submit their own proposal to the Authority, they 
will take no part in its processing and consideration.

1 ‘Former’ = those Officers and Members who left the Authority less than 12 months prior to 
the submission of their planning application

Page 183



7.3 Such proposals will be reported to the PAROW committee as main items and not
dealt with by Officers under delegated powers. The same applies to 
applications etc. made by former Members and Officers. Proposals for the 
Authority’s own development will be treated in exactly the same way as those 
of private developers.

7.4 Where there is a proposal from an Officer (or from a member of their family or
from a close friend), the Officer must –

(a) inform the Planning and Heritage Manager when the application is made or 
as soon as it comes to the attention of the Officer;

(b) take no part in the decision-making process; and

(c) comply with other relevant provisions of this Protocol.

7.5 Where there is a proposal from a Member (or from a person with whom they live
or by whom they are employed or with whom they have a close personal 
association), or where the member has (for any reason) a prejudicial interest 
in the matter, then the Member must-

(a) inform the Planning and Heritage Manager when the application is made or 
as soon as it comes to the attention of the Member; and

(b) comply with other relevant provisions of this Protocol; and may-

(c) attend a meeting of the Authority but only for the purpose of making 
representations in relation to the proposal, provided that the public are 
allowed to attend the meeting for the same purpose. Having made such 
representations the member must:

(d) immediately leave the meeting; and,

(e) take no part in the decision-making process.

7.6 Where a Member has a prejudicial interest in a matter (as defined in the Authority’s
Code of Conduct for Members) the Member shall not approach Officers 
directly or indirectly or make oral or written representations in relation to 
the application and shall not seek to influence a decision in relation to it, (for 
example by seeking to call-in an application for consideration by PAROW 
Committee rather than under the Scheme of Delegation) other than as allowed 
in paragraph 7.5(a) (c) to (e) above.

7.7 Officers within the Authority should not submit applications to the Authority on
behalf of third parties, except as part of their duties as Authority employees.

Page 184



BBNPA Planning Protocol – April 2016 14BBNPA Planning Protocol – April 2016 15

8.  Training and Monitoring
 8.1     Members must attend an initial induction and regular training sessions to receive

guidance in relation to planning regulations and procedures and on disclosure of 
personal interests.

8.2 The report of the Audit Commission “Building in Quality” recommends that
Members should revisit a sample of implemented planning permissions to assess 
the quality of the decisions. Such a review should improve the quality and 
consistency of decision-making, thereby strengthening public confidence in the 
planning system, and can help with reviews of planning policies.

8.3 The Planning and Heritage Manager shall arrange such reviews.

8.4 Reviews are best undertaken at least annually. They will include examples from a
broad range of categories such as major and minor development; permitted 
departures; delegated items; upheld appeals; listed building works and 
enforcement cases. Briefing notes will be prepared on each case. The PAROW 
Committee will formally consider the review and decide whether it gives rise 
to the need to reconsider any policies or practices.

9.0 Complaints / Record Keeping

9.1 Whatever procedures a planning authority operates, it is likely that complaints will
be made. However, following this guidance should greatly reduce the occasions 
on which complaints are justified. It should also provide less reason for people 
to complain in the first place.

9.2 A logical consequence of adopting a local protocol of good planning practice is that
the Authority should also have in place a robust complaints system. The 
Authority has a procedure for dealing with formal complaints. It should be 
remembered that complainants alleging a breach of the statutory local code 
of conduct are able to direct their allegations in writing direct to the Public 
Services Ombudsman for Wales.

9.3 So that complaints may be fully investigated and, in any case, as a matter of general
good practice, record keeping should be comprehensive and accurate. 
Omissions and inaccuracies could, in themselves, cause a complaint or 
undermine the Authority's case. The guiding rule is that every planning 
application file should contain an accurate account of events throughout its 
life. It should be possible for someone not involved in that application to 
understand what the decision was and why and how it had been reached. 
Particular care needs to be taken with applications determined under 
Officers' delegated powers, where there is no referral to a Committee. Such 
decisions should be as well documented and recorded as those taken by 
Members. These principles apply equally to enforcement and development 
plan matters.

Page 185



BBNPA Planning Protocol – April 2016 14

10.  Call-In 
10.1 Any Member may request that an application that is due to determined by 

officers under a delegated authority is ‘Called-In’ and determined by PAROW 

Committee in substitute.

10.2 The Chief Executive or Planning and Heritage Manager shall only accept a 

member ‘Call-In’ where all of the following is complied with:

(a) the request is received in writing by the Chief Executive or Planning and 

Heritage Manager; and

(b) the request is received within 15 working days of the date on which the 

weekly list of applications proposed to be dealt with under delegated 

powers has been sent to all Members of the Authority; and

(c) the request states in full the planning or public interest reasons why the 

matter should be considered by the PAROW Committee; and

(d) the request states whether:

i. the call-in occurs only if the officer recommendation is 

Permit; or

ii. the call-in occurs only if the officer recommendation is 

Refuse; or

iii. the call-in occurs irrespective of the officer recommendation.  

10.3 The officer report will state (i) which Member exercised the right of ‘Call-In’ 

and (ii) planning or public interest reasons provided why the matter should be 

considered by the PAROW Committee 

10.4 Once the Planning and Heritage Manager has accepted that a planning 

application is subject to a member Call-in, then the planning application shall 

be determined by PAROW Committee even where the Member subsequently 

requests that the Call-In is withdrawn.  

Page 186



Llangattock Conservation Area

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority

Date 29th October 2019

Report Author Janet Poole

Job title Senior Built Heritage Officer 

Contact Details Helen.lucocq@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To seek member approval to consult on proposed revisions 
to Llangattock Conservation Area

Single Integrated 
Assessment

N/A

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1 Llangattock Conservation Area 
Appraisal (Consultation draft)

Public Interest Test N/A

Recommendation(s) a) To approve the publication of the Llangattock 
Conservation Area Appraisal (Consultation draft) for 
the purposes of an 8 week public consultation 

1.1 Introduction or Background

Section 69 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 imposes a duty 
on Local Planning Authorities (LPA’s) to determine and review their locality to define ‘areas of 
special architectural or historic interest, the character or appearance of which it is desirable to 
preserve or enhance’ and to designated them as Conservation Areas.

Page 187

Agenda Item 16



Conservation areas are designated for their overall quality rather than just focusing on 
individual buildings. They are an amalgamation of the areas positive historic features including 
the grouping of buildings; the spaces between buildings;  materials, boundaries; views; routes; 
open spaces; and past and present land uses.  These features combine to form the special 
interest worthy of conservation area status.  

The Crickhowell and Llangattock Conservation Area is one of four conservation areas within 
the Brecon Beacons National Park and was designated in 1969.

Planning authorities have a duty to protect Conservation Areas from development which would 
harm their special historic or architectural character and this is reflected in the policies 
contained in the National Park’s Local Development Plan. The regular review of Conservation 
Areas can ensure that the designated area continues to demonstrate clear architectural and 
historic interest, it can also establish whether boundaries need amendment; and identify 
potential measures for enhancing and protecting the Area. 

In 2009 members resolved to carry out a rolling program of Conservation Area Appraisals 
(CAA’s) to meet its responsibilities under the above Act.   Brecon, Hay on Wyes and Talgarth 
Conservation Area appraisals and boundary reviews were approved and designated between 
2010 and 2016. 

Officers have sought to undertake the review of the Crickhowell and Llangattock Conservation 
Area through the Crickhowell Place Plan process.  Through this consultation with the 
community it was agreed that the Llangattock and Crickhowell elements would be dealt with 
separately.   The review of the Crickhowell Consultation Area was presented to Members for 
approval to consult upon at the last meeting of the NPA. Accordingly Officers are now seeking 
to finalise this programme of review, and are seeking Member approval to consult on the 
reviewed conservation area for Llangattock for a period of 8 weeks.

1.2 Proposals

The Conservation Area Appraisal process has followed a three step process, the detail of which 
can be found within the draft Conservation Area Appraisal for Llangattock.

- A review of the existing conservation area boundary and assessment of any necessary 
amendments

- The identification of elements of place which contribute or detract from the character 
of Llangattock

- The definition of measures proposed to maintain or improve the positive character, 
local distinctiveness and sense of place of Llangattock.

This process has determined nine points of special interest in relation to Llangattock, 
amendments to the existing boundary and a range of management recommendations to ensure 
the unique character of Llangattock is enhanced and maintained.

Page 188



One additional area is proposed for inclusion, that is Ty Gardd and the Old Rectory It has 
been concluded that an extended boundary to include the attractive stone built Ty Gardd, the 
stabling to the rear of the Court and the former orchards and enclosing landscape to the rear 
of the hotel grounds provides a more accurate reflection of the special character at the 
conservation area’s core.

On area is proposed for removal from the existing conservation boundary -  Houses on Park 
Drive have been in the conservation area since its designation but do not easily meet the 
current criterial for designation. Their removal from the conservation area is recommended so 
that its boundary is a more accurate reflection of the special character designation requires.

The amended boundary is given below.

 

1.3 Implications

Page 189



It is proposed to consult on the proposed amendments to gain community and stakeholder 
views in relation to the appropriateness of the reviewed boundary.

Following close of the consultation, all representations received will be reviewed and 
responded to.  Where necessary the Conservation Area Appraisal will be amended.  All 
comments received and Officer response will be presented to Members.

1.4 Risk

The Conservation Area in Llangattock has not been reviewed since its inception in 1969.   
Failure to take forward this review would put the NPA at odds with the duty set out in the 
Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

The consultation process is aimed at raising awareness of the proposed amendments to the 
Llangattock Conservation Area.  Such a consultation should mitigate risk associated with the 
change of in the designated boundary.  

1.5 Conclusion

The Conservation Area at Llangattock is aimed at protecting and enhancing the special 
character of the area.  This review forms part of our statutory duty as a planning authority.  
The review is necessary to ensure that the basis of the Conservation Area is justifiable and up 
to date.  The consultation phase will enable all those interested in the development of 
Llangattock to input into the reviewed process.

RECOMMENDATION(S):

a) To approve the publication of the Llangattock Conservation Area 
Appraisal (Consultation draft) for the purposes of an 8 week public consultation

Page 190



1

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

Crickhowell & Llangattock
Conservation Area Review

PART 2

Llangattock Character Assessment

Consultation Draft for National Park Authority Meeting
October 2019

Page 191



2

P
age 192



3

1. SUMMARY OF SPECIAL INTEREST

 Llangattock is a historic village clustered around a substantial church of medieval origins.
 The layout of its historic core has been influenced by the Nant Onneu brook whose 

wooded path winds past clusters of houses, gardens and service yards on its way to the river 
Usk.

 A gentle but rising topography contributes to the character of the conservation area, 
particularly from aspects looking north.  Here parkland, allotments and woodland frame and 
enhance views of the settlement.

 Boundary walls and hedges are a key feature of the village.
 The landscape surrounding the village is closely associated with a number of historic Gentry 

Houses which reflect the settlement’s strategic location in the Usk Valley. Their planned 
landscapes and gardens along with defining walls, gates and wooded enclosures are a strong 
feature of the village, and its rural context.

 The majority of the buildings in the conservation area date from the early 19th century 
onwards. Their location scale and layout reflect the importance of the village as a service and 
housing location for those working on the Monmouthshire and Brecon Canal or in the 
landed Estates referred to above.

 Render and stone are the dominant walling materials, along with slate roof coverings and 
stone chimneys. Many buildings are clustered as intimate housing groups, served only by 
informal footpaths and service yards.

 The proximity of Crickhowell has forged strong pedestrian links throughout the village into 
surrounding farm or parkland. They offer attractive glimpses of historic houses, and building 
groups, and make the village popular for tourists and walkers alike. 

 More recently, the strategic location of the village close to the Heads of the Valleys road has 
led to its expansion as a commuter settlement.

Page 193



4

2. LOCATION AND SETTING

Llangattock is located within the Usk Valley on the east side of the Brecon Beacons National Park, 
The village lies to the south of the river opposite the town of Crickhowell.  The settlements are 
linked by the historic Crickhowell Bridge.  The village is surrounded by a high quality landscape and 
is dominated to the south by the Mynydd Llangatwg. As with Crickhowell, the village is identified in 
the Brecon Beacons National Park Landscape Character Assessment [August 2012] as the ‘Eastern 
Usk Valley’ : a designation which extends from Pencelli to Abergavenny. 

Location of Llangattock

Page 194



5

3. HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT AND ARCHAEOLOGY

The village derives its name from the church of St Catwg, and is identified in its earliest form as 
‘Llangadawc’ in about 1180, and as ‘Llancadock’ in 1291. Over a century later in 1412, a document 
refers to ‘Llangattock’ [see the CPAT reference below]

The origins of the village are not clear but are likely to be associated with an ecclesiastical settlement 
which clustered itself around the church. The Clwyd Powys Archaeological Trust explains that the 
settlement which is visible on early 19th Century maps between the church and the bridge over the 
Nant Onneu may have had its origins in the Middle Ages and points out that on the opposite side of 
the stream further housing grew up along the road back into Crickhowell. This is depicted on the 
1587 Badminton Manorial atlas which shows houses on the road adjoining the medieval park of Killelan, 
now Llangattock Park. 

1567 map to be inserted

Winding streets with their packed cottages leading from the church to the Nant Onneu form the 
earliest recognisable focus of the settlement. However, The Clwyd Powys Archaeological Trust  finds 
that although few of the buildings retain fabric to confirm this, the Six Bells, a former inn has internal 
17th Century features, and Village Farm dates from the late 17th Century. West of the Church the Old 
Rectory is thought to have originated in the 16th Century. Plas Llangatwg has an early 18th Century 
front but retains Tudor details within. The layout of its gardens in the early 19th Century has caused 
the diversion of the road around its eastern edge, and this remains a distinctive part of the village form.

The village grew rapidly in the early 19th Century when the Monmouthshire and Brecon Canal played 
an important part in the expansion of South Wales. It also opened the rural hinterland around the 
village to more distant markets and trades, and led to strengthened links with Crickhowell and its 
commercial centre. Its importance is evident throughout the village but concentrated on Hillside Road 
and around Canal bridges. 

Page 195



6

Figure 2. Tithe Map – Plan of the Parish of Llangattock, 1847

Page 196



7

Modern growth has fundamentally changed the appearance of the village, extending it southwards, and 
to the east. 1960’s housing, the Church in Wales Primary School and housing along Park Drive 

now form a well- established settlement boundary along the edge of the historic Llangattock Park. 
More recently, new housing faced in stone has been successfully integrated into the centre of the 
village. 

A more detailed account of the development of the village can be found in the Clwyd-Powys Historic 
Environment Record and in the archives of the Crickhowell Resource and Information Centre.

Postcard showing Swan Lane in the 1930s (Peoples’ Collection)

Page 197



8

4. SPATIAL ANALYSIS

Historic village streets are narrow and 
buildings are often terraced or set close 
together. There are a few clusters of estate 
houses built together in the mid-19th century, 
but more are individual houses built to create 
a terrace.  Though altered later, they read as a 
continuous building line and give an intimate 
and enclosed feel to the village at its core. 

On Hillside Road, the clusters are more 
scattered, with gardens, yards and bridges 
separating groups of differing style and scale. 

Variety is also evident in the orientation of 
roofs and ridge lines. Some houses have gables 
set to the road, others face it: their aspect, 
height and composition creating a complex and 
pleasing built form. 

The spatial character of the village is influenced 
by the location of a number of substantial 
Estate Houses which lie within or on the edge 
of it. Their managed landscaped grounds and 
parkland provide a historic backdrop to the 
conservation area. 

Walls and hedges enhance this context, and 
define historic routes and property boundaries. 
They are particularly evident to the north of 
the conservation area where distinctive 
parkland walls with angular stone copings line 
the B4558 and Hillside Road.

Page 198



9

5. ARCHITECTURAL CHARACTER

Building style scale and form

Housed are in the main two storeys with 
simple ridges and building frontages. There is a 
mix of architectural style in the conservation 
area, though the predominant style appears 
driven by fashion and the availability of building 
materials at the time of each building’s 
construction. The distinctive Tudor Gothic 
building style adopted by T H Wyatt in the 
building of Llangattock Park has influenced a 
number of 19th century buildings and groups in 
the conservation area. The Miles Memorial 
Hall, the Old Rectory and former School, 
together with numerous terraced housing 
groups mimic the style, using decorative eaves, 
drip moulds and dressed window openings. 

Materials

The oldest buildings in the village are of local 
stone, many with a rendered or lime washed 
finish. More recent and substantial houses set 
within their own grounds are built with dressed 
stone or faced in stucco. With the 
development of the canal, and the expansion of 
the village, brick became more popular, either 
as a building material or to frame windows and 
doors.

The local Devonian Red sandstone is common 
throughout the village and can be seen at the 
Miles Memorial Hall, Ty Gardd and on houses 
in Owen’s Row. It is also used for headstones 
to windows and doors on other houses. The 
massive St Catwg church tower offers the best 
example of its use. Here it is packed tightly in 
thin bands, with decorative quoins, bands and 
crenellated parapets to complete. Elsewhere, 
rock face pennant with pennant or bathstone 
dressings is used, for example at Park Farm 
Lodge, and the Old Rectory.

There has been a growing and successful use of 
pennant stone facing to contemporary 
development in the village, notably at Trem y 
View which lies just outside the conservation 
area. 

Page 199



10

Finally, more recent detached houses and 
bungalows are constructed in brick or render. 
Often set within expansive gardens and behind 
hedges, they have minimal impact on the 
character of the conservation area. 

Architectural detail

Decorative fascia boards and fretwork on 
gables are a common addition to buildings.  The 
approach is evident at the converted school, 
where buildings of good quality rock-faced 
sandstone with stone dressings create a 
pleasing group with decorative bargeboards 
and drip moulds over windows and doors. 

Elsewhere, some architectural detail has been 
lost through the replacement of traditional 
window joinery. Building scale and proportion 
has been lost as a result. This has also occurred 
where render has been removed from stone. 

Page 200



11

Streetscape 

Solid stone walls in random rubble or of semi 
coursed stone are an important part of the 
village. The most significant walls can be found 
on Hillside Road and around Plas Llangatwg and 
Cwrt Llangatwg. They form a pleasing 
backdrop to building groups where they are 
often partnered by mature hedges or garden 
vegetation. Beech hedges are a particular 
feature of the village, 

Although there are pavements and verges on 
Hillside Road, the inner streets at the village 
core have no pavements but are instead faced 
by houses leading directly onto narrow strips 
of setts. A number of houses are served by 
narrow passageways, some still paved by setts 
or gravel with grassy edges.  

Signage is inconspicuous.  Directional signs and 
interpretation boards provided by Community 
Council and Church lend depth and local 
interest to village life.

Highway lighting is varied. Some is of a 
‘heritage’ type, but of a scale which does not 
relate well to local buildings.

Page 201



12

6. DESIGNATED HISTORIC ASSETS

Listed Buildings

Figure 5   shows the location of Listed Buildings in the Conservation Area. The photographs below 
are a selection of listed buildings representing some of the different building types in the conservation 
area. List descriptions can be found on Cadw’s website: CofCymru: https://cadw.gov.wales/advice-
support/cof-cymru

Listed buildings:

Cwrt Llangatwg, Grade 11*,

Plas Llangatwg, Grade 11*

Glass and Boiler House within the grounds of Plas Llangatwg, Grade 11*

Gate and Gate piers to Plas Llangatwg, Grade 11

Barn to the rear of Plas Llangatwg, Grade 11

St Catwg’s Church, Grade 11*,

Churchyard Cross within the churchyard at St Catwg’s Grade 11

The Horseshoe Pub, Grade 11

The Old Six Bells, Grade 11,

The Village Farm House, Grade 11

Page 202



13

Glannoney, Grade 11, including its entrance gates and walls,

Beech View Grade 11

St Catwg’s Church – grade II*

A church is first recorded here in C6, 
dedicated to St Cattwg (497 - 577 
AD). There is said to have been a C12 
tower, but no evidence for it survives. 
It was probably on the site of the 
present C16 tower. The C14 arcade 
suggests that the church may belong to 
this date.  Largely late-Perpendicular in 
style and built of local red stone.  The 
church is dominated by the massive 3-
stage tower with quoins, band courses 
and crenellated parapet. 

Old Six Bells – grade II

Former Public House in the centre of 
the village, possibly of 17th century 
origins. Built in three phases, the oldest 
part is at the southern end with the 
middle part probably 18th to early 19th 
century.  The northern section is 
Victorian.  The middle section is 
characterised by hoodmoulds over the 
windows to the front.  Built of rubble 
stone which is painted, and a slated 
roof.

Plas Llangatwg – II*

Early C18 gentry house, constructed 
on the site of a former Tudor house, 
features of which still survive.  The 
main part of the house is 3-storey 
under a hipped roof. Flanking this are 
two-storey side wings with parapets. 
Slate roofs and painted roughcast 
elevations. The front elevation has a 
moulded dentilled eaves cornice. 
There is a fine decorative wrought 
iron veranda of 2-storeys to the 
front.

Page 203



14

The Horseshoe Inn – grade II

Listed as an early C19 coaching inn 
retaining its historic character. 

Symmetrical, two-storey inn with 
central entrance flanked by 16-pane 
sash windows.  Lower coach house 
range attached to right with a carriage 
entrance.  The walls are rendered 
under a slate covered roof.  Long rear 
wing behind the   inn, constructed of 
rubble masonry.

Barn at Plas Llangatwg 
including pigsties – grade II

Late 18th century threshing barn built 
of rubble masonry with a stone tile 
roof. The barn is prominently sited, 
abutting the highway running through 
the village.  A central full height 
opening with planked double doors 
fronts the road and there is a 
matching opening to the rear.   

Against the north gable end are 3 pig 
sties of rubble stone with red pantile 
lean-to roofs.

Village Farmhouse – grade II

The Village Farmhouse dates from 
the late 17th to early 18th century. It is 
located in a prominent position next 
to the church and set back behind a 
low, stone wall.

The house is 2 storeys,,with a 
distinctive hipped roof  with 2 large 
end stacks and 3 hipped roof 
dormers. To the rear is a full-height 
staircase projection. The walls of the 
house are finished with a rough cast 
render

Page 204



15

Scheduled Ancient Monuments:

Garn Goch within the grounds of the Recreation Ground is a Scheduled Long Barrow dating from 
4000 to 3000 BC. It was investigated in 1874 and found to be a burial chamber showing evidence of 
significant burial and ritual practices. A more detailed account can be found in the Clwyd-Powys 
Historic Environment Record. 

Registered Parks and Gardens:

Statutory Protection has been afforded to the following Cadw Registered Parks and Gardens:

 Plas Llangatwg: Grade 11*
 Llangattock Park: Grade 11

Figure 6 shows the location of the Scheduled Ancient Monument (SAM) and the Registered Parks 
and Gardens.

Garn Goch Long Barrow

Page 205



16

 7 KEY UNDESIGNATED HISTORIC ASSETS

The following unlisted buildings are considered to make a positive contribution to local character:

Park View and Dinas Place: A prominent 
grouping at the junction of Owen’s Row and 
Hillside Road. The terrace has some attractive 
detailing picked out in cream and red brick, 
which is repeated on chimneys and gate posts. 
The whole is enhanced by well-preserved cast 
iron railings. Its rear face overlooks the Nant 
Onneu .

The Old School House and the Miles 
Memorial Hall: This is shown on the 1880 
OS maps as a school but is now converted to 
an attractive residential group. The buildings 
retain handsome stonework with slate roofs 
set over decorative bargeboards. The whole 
group is surrounded by a stone boundary wall 
and well maintained railings. The Miles 
Memorial Hall to the rear of the school is faced 
in well-cut local stone with dressings and 
decorative crest set over its arched entrance 
porch.

Owen’s Row: this group leads to the historic 
core of the village. It comprises 2 storey 
terraces either facing the road or set back in 
hidden passageways [Swan Lane] or 
courtyards. Materials are local stone with slate 
roofs over. Some terraces were formerly faced 
in render, though this has often been removed. 
A number of distinctive round headed 
doorways with fanlights endure within some 
terraces. A former shop, now converted lies 
within the group. Its former shopfront with 
cornice and pilasters remains.  The former 
Crown Inn lies within the group as well. On the 
south side of the Row, a number of houses 
retain sandstone hood moulds and string 
courses.

Page 206



17

Golden Square: lies between Owen’s Row 
and the Nant Onneu . Its houses overlook an 
attractive square laid in stone slabs.

Cartref : An attractive pair of houses set back 
from the road, sharing a common central gable 
and decorative barge boards. Its side elevation 
forms an attractive backdrop to the edge of the 
Nant Onneu.

The Old Rectory: The Old Rectory and its 
stable block remain as a late 19th century stone 
house built in a robust Victorian Gothic style. 
It is enclosed by high stone boundary walls, and 
a number of more recent outbuildings. The 
impressive 3 storey mansion with outbuildings 
are built in coursed local stone with distinctive 
fretted barge boards and freestone dressings. 
A substantial ‘porte cochere’ lies to the front 
and is complemented by a gracious entrance 
drive.

The walls and water fountain enclosing 
the village car park. Boundary walls are a 
distinctive feature of the village. These walls are 
the best example and follow a pleasing curve 
around the historic road alignment shown on 
early maps. They hold within them a decorative 
water fountain given to the village in 1881 by 
its benefactor GFW Miles. 

Page 207



18

Plas Cottages: A terrace of 3 cottages faced 
in local stone with brick window openings and 
sandstone lintels. They form a strong building 
group with the adjoining listed barn, and lie 
within the curtilage of the Registered Plas 
LLangatwg.

Park Farm Lodge: Lies at the former 
entrance to Llangattock Park and adjacent to 
the Ladies Avenue, a former drive which leads 
through the plantation. The Lodge is enclosed 
by high stone gates piers and railings. Footpath 
access to the woods is now gained to the east 
beside Knightswood.

Figure 7  
Location of key un-designated 
historic assets

Page 208



19

8 LANDMARK BUILDINGS

For the purpose of this appraisal, Landmark Buildings or structures have been identified for a 
combination of qualities that make them stand out in a way that contributes positively to the 
character of the conservation area. They are shown on Figure 8 and briefly described here:

St Catwg’s Church,

This substantial medieval church with massive 
West tower dominates the centre of the village 
and views from every direction.

Plas Llangatwg,

This unusual 18th Century Gentry House 
stands behind its high stone boundary wall and 
outbuildings. Though half hidden, its pink 
square block with central pediment, high pitch 
roof and end stacks towers above the village 
and the shrub and woodland planting within its 
ornamental gardens.

The Wall with Water Fountain 
enclosing the village car park,

The fountain with Gothic arched canopy in 
stone and brick was bequeathed to the village 
by its benefactor GFW Miles in 1881. 

The Lychgate and walls enclosing the 
churchyard. 

The gates create a focal point at the centre of 
the village, and marks the cross roads of paths 
and roads. With the churchyard wall, they 
enjoy the same ecclesiastical protection as the 
listed Church and Preaching Cross.  

Page 209



20

9 VIEWS

Key views can be identified in four ways:

i) Views and glimpses gained as roads and building groups are revealed within the village 
core. The well- defined footpaths which skirt the churchyard and Plas Llangatwg offer 
many such glimpses from numerous points as the walker moves north or south. The paths 
include early stone footbridges, 19th century railings and gates, and well maintained stone 
walls.  All add to the area’s historic significance. 

ii) The Nant Onneu offers glimpses of the back of houses rising above stone garden walls 
and hedging. Views from the bridge leading into the village offer the best example

iii) Longer vistas can be enjoyed across more expansive planned landscapes or fields around 
the settlement. Two Cadw Registered  ‘Historic Parks and Gardens’ lie within the 
conservation area and are important parts of the area’s historic landscape. ‘Plas Llangatwg’, 
and ‘Llangattock Park’ offer pastoral views across the parkland and fields encircling the 
village.  

iv) Views towards the hills to the north and south of the Usk valley define and confirm the 
strategic location of the village between river and canal. To the south, the village is 
dominated by the limestone crags of Mynydd Llangatwg, and to the north, by the Table 
Mountain, Crug Hywel.

Page 210



21

Panoramic View from the canal looking 
northwards over the rooftops of Llangattock 
towards Crickhowell.

The curve of the street allows the view to 
unfold as progress is made along the street.

Vista along the High Street towards St. 
Catwg’s Church.

View along Nant Onneu, flanked by the backs 
of houses.

Glimpse from High Street along narrow 
footway.

View channelled along the walled path 
towards the church.

Page 211



22

10 GREEN SPACES AND 
BIODIVERSITY

The woodland around Llangattock is 
important, and defines the eastern boundary of 
the conservation area. Woodland which is part 
of the former Llangattock Park retains a 
significant number of its original beech tees, 
together with other ornamental species 
including Monkey puzzles, Cedars and Douglas 
Firs. The plantation includes a drive called 
‘Ladies Avenue’ which runs north towards Park 
Farm Lodge on the boundary of the 
conservation area.  It offers attractive walks 
through mixed deciduous woodland. 

The Community Council manages the 
allotments, and recreation ground and is 
successful in managing the playing field and play 
areas within it, its trees and ornamental 
planting. 

More informal woodland areas and hedgerows 
encircle Plas Llangatwg and follow the banks of 
the Nant Onneu . These, with the trees 
bounding the cemetery, give Llangattock its 
soft green woodland character. 

This attractive combination of greenery and 
pennant stone has been successfully 
interpreted in the layout of roadside verges on 
Hillside Road and the inclusion of stone 
gateway features within them.

The final landscape ‘type’ is that found within 
enclosed gardens and orchards. These, 
particularly at Llangatwg Cwrt, Plas Llangatwg 
and Glannoney hold many substantial 
ornamental species, which have a positive 
impact on the public domain when glimpsed 
above stone boundary wall or hedges. The 
location of the cemetery at the entrance to the 
village is defined by a border of tall conifers. It 
lies beside the more informal grazed meadows 
behind Plas Llangatwg. A number of 
ornamental trees including Spanish Chestnuts 
frame the adjoining brook.

The inclusion of Plas Llangatwg and Llangattock 
Park in the Cadw Register of Historic Parks and 
Gardens confirms the area’s significance as a 
location for historic planned landscapes. 

Page 212



23

Key green spaces include:

 The recreation ground and allotment 
Gardens,

 Meadows between the churchyard and 
B4558, through which the Nant Onneu 
runs,

 The churchyard and woodland 
adjoining the brook,

 Llangattock Park mature woodland and 
plantations,

 The entrance to the Old Rectory 
Hotel

 Private gardens including Glanonney, 
Plas Llangatwg, and Llangatwg Cwrt. 

There are numerous examples of individual 
trees that make an important contribution to 
the character of the conservation area 
throughout the year. Examples include:

 The towering Oak at the entrance to 
the Old Rectory,

 The Monkey puzzle lying on the edge 
of the Recreation Ground,

 The Spanish chestnut and orchard 
trees lying in the meadow behind Plas 
Llangatwg,

There are both garden and native hedges in the 
conservation area. They provide habitat and 
movement corridors for wildlife.

Page 213



24

11 USES AND ACTIVITIES

The conservation area is almost entirely residential in character. The busy trades and workshops of 
the 19th and early 20th century are all gone, and the only pubs remaining are the Horse Shoes Inn and 
the Vine Tree at the entrance to the village. The Old Rectory Hotel offers a more substantial hotel 
and restaurant facility. Other local activity is generated by public facilities, notably the allotments on 
Hillside Road, the recreation ground on Park Drive and the Church, graveyard and Cemetery.

12 ROUTES AND MOVEMENT

There is vehicle access to most of the village with informal on street parking available. The attractive 
pattern of narrow windings streets has given rise to parking demands in the village core, despite the 
development of a successful and well used car park in the centre of the village. 

There is a well-used footpath around the church which passes over a footbridge to join the path 
running through the yard at the rear of the Horseshoe Inn. It then passes through the historic 
meadows lying behind Plas Llangatwg before heading towards the B4558 and the Crickhowell bridge. 
Other popular footpaths follow historic routes and tracks pass through Llangattock Park and its estate 
woodlands.

Most through traffic is evident on Hillside Road which is the main access to housing on its east and 
west, and to the school. Beyond, the mountain road to Beaufort offers a useful route for local traffic. 
However, at busy times of day the level of traffic can impact on pedestrians, particularly at the vehicle 
management pinch point on Hillside Road where the pavement narrows. 

Page 214



25

13 ISSUES AND OPPORTUNITIES

The appraisal has identified a number of strengths and weaknesses for consultation: 

Strengths:

 The conservation area lies at the heart of a well maintained predominantly residential 
settlement, and is its recognizable and distinctive core.

 The village has well defined and historic connections to Crickhowell and the Canal. 
 Its strategic location in the historic Usk Valley has resulted in the establishment of a 

number of important gentry houses and Estates: notably, Llangatwg Cwrt, Llangatwg Plas 
and Llangattock Park.

 Each Estate has retained significant historic landscapes which play an important part in 
forming the wooded backdrop to the Conservation Area.

 The condition of historic and contemporary building stock is good. 
 Recent development is well integrated in the village and has benefited from local input to 

the Village Design Statement adopted in 1997.
 The village is enhanced by a number of informal footpaths which run through the village 

and establish attractive connections to adjoining rural farm and woodland, and links 
towards the Canal and the River Usk.

 The recreation ground, allotments and woodland endure  as well maintained community 
assets within the conservation area’s boundary,

 There is an active community with an interest in enhancing the local environment,

Weaknesses:

 The loss of shops, pubs and workshops over the years has led to a change in the character 
of the village,

 There is occasionally traffic congestion where cars struggle to pass on the main village 
street,

 There is some damage to the distinctive pavement setts where cars have difficulty passing,
 There has been some loss of historic landscapes to residential development,
 There is some loss of architectural detail to houses. This is particularly evident in the loss of 

historic renders and plasters, or in the replacement of traditional joinery,
 As trees within gardens and orchards mature, there is a loss to the scale and stature of tree 

cover,
 Some stone boundary walls are poorly maintained or have been fragmented by replacement 

fencing, leading to some loss in the definition of building groups.
 The yard and garden adjoining to Duke’s Yard is poorly maintained and in a prominent 

position on the roadside,

Page 215



26

14 MANAGEMENT PLAN

1. MANAGEMENT PLAN / RECOMMENDATIONS – setting out a framework for 
action

In order to address the issues identified above, the list below sets out a range of proposals 
which are all aimed at the protection or enhancement of the Conservation Area with an 
indication of the lead body in most cases. Minor amendments to the conservation area 
boundary are also included.

New Development:
Development proposals will be assessed 
for their effect on the conservation area’s 
character and appearance as identified in 
this Appraisal, together with other 
relevant planning policies and 
supplementary planning guidance.

The BBNPA will encourage prospective 
developers and home owners to make 
use of the Authority’s pre-application 
service.

The local community could consider 
updating the Village Design statement 
prepared in 1996

BBNPA, through the Appraisal’s adoption 
and SPG

BBNPA

BBNPA, Community Council and local 
community groups supported by BBNPA

Loss of architectural detail and minor 
alterations to historic buildings :
The NPA will encourage the restoration of 
authentic architectural features where there 
is sound evidence of original detailing 
Building Maintenance and Repair: The 
BBNPA will provide guidance or direct 
enquiries to sources of appropriate advice 
that could assist in the retention and 
enhancement of the conservation area’s 
historic character and appearance.

The BBNPA will monitor the condition of 
all designated historic assets in the 
conservation area and if necessary will take 
appropriate action to secure their future,

When funding is available, the BBNPA will 
offer grants to suitable enhancement 
schemes where these have wider 
community benefit

NPA, Community Council and local 
community groups [supported by BBNPA]

BBNPA, building owners

BBNPA

BBNPA, CC and local community groups

Page 216



27

Historic Surfaces: 
Historic paving, kerbs and setts should be 
protected and repaired, if necessary, using 
traditional techniques and materials 

Powys CC and home owners [for areas 
adjacent to buildings not within highway 
land]

Tree management and enhancement:
The NPA will consider preparing advice 
about care and maintenance of trees within 
the conservation area.

Support will be given to initiatives for new 
planting of appropriate native species, 
particularly in green spaces and at the edges 
and gateways to the conservation area. 

As part of the consultation process for the 
Conservation area review, the BBNPA will 
consider whether additional Tree 
Preservation Orders are required.

NPA, Community Council Powys County 
Council and local Landowners, Llangattock 
Green Valleys Initiative, Llangattock 
Community Woodlands Group.

BBNPA in consultation with the 
stakeholders above.

BBNPA

Footpaths and Links
The NPA will work with the County 
Council to maintain and promote the 
historic network of footpaths which run 
through the conservation area,

BBNPA Powys CC and Community 
Council, St Catwg’s Parish 

Canal Links and Interpretation
The NPA will work with partners to 
enhance and promote the significance of the 
village’s connection to the Canal and its 
trading and industrial past

NPA, Community Council, Canals and 
Rivers Trust, Cadw and Powys CC, 
Crickhowell District Archive Centre 
Langattock Green Valleys Initiative

Boundary Amendment: An amendment 
to include Ty Gardd and adjoining landscape 
enclosing The Old Rectory is 
recommended, together with the deletion 
of new development on Park Drive. See 
map: 

BBNPA

Page 217



28

15: A REVIEW OF THE CONSERVATION AREA’S BOUNDARY

The proposal to designate a separate conservation area for Llangattock offers an opportunity to review 
the boundary identified in 1969. Whilst maps show that Llangattock’s history is well defined in buildings 
clusters spread over an extensive area, the core of the historic settlement can still be discerned around 
the Church and Plas Llangatwg. The other significant historic cluster is found at Langattock Park House. 
However this area is separated by more recent developments of a differing scale and character. Its 
inclusion within the conservation area would dilute the special character of the current well defined 
area. 

Areas considered for inclusion:

1. The Canal Area: Many of the houses and outbuildings located south of the village core have 
an association with the Canal. A number of footpaths, yards and passageways lead over the 
Nant Onneu before ascending the wooded slopes below the canal. References to smithy, 
woollen mills limekilns etc on early OS maps show how busy this area would have been from 
the mid 19th Century onwards. However, their physical evidence is now less well defined with 
many 20th Century developments and alterations diluting the character and integrity of the 
former connection. It is concluded that the focus of this historic grouping is too distant from 
the core of the existing conservation area to merit inclusion. Should proposals for a wider 
linear Canal conservation area be considered in the future there may be scope to formulate a 
set of protective measures more suited to its industrial heritage.  

2. Ty Gardd and the Old Rectory: The 1st Edition OS map shows the historic layout of the 
former Rectory and Llangattock Court and their enclosing landscape. An extended boundary 
to include the attractive stone built Ty Gardd, the stabling to the rear of the Court and the 
former orchards and enclosing landscape to the rear of the hotel grounds provides a more 
accurate reflection of the special character at the conservation area’s core. 

Area Considered for Deletion:

Houses on Park Drive have been in the conservation area since its designation but do not easily meet 
the current criterial for designation. Their removal from the conservation area is recommended so 
that its boundary is a more accurate reflection of the special character designation requires.

In all other areas, the existing boundary is considered a good reflection of the Conservation Area’s 
special character. 

Ty gardd        Grounds associated with the 
       Old Rectory

Page 218



29

P
age 219



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	8 Future Priorities & Structure Proposals
	NPA Change Programme Consultation Proposal - October 2019 FINAL
	Future Priorities Structure Proposals Single Integrated Assessment

	9 Composition of the National Park Authority
	10 Review of New Governance Structures
	Summary of Governance Survey for Gov & Member Dev WG

	11 Annual Report 2018/19
	Annual Report 2018/19

	12 Review of the Local Resolution Protocol
	BBNPA Local Resolution Protocol v 111019

	13 Pay Policy Statement
	Pay Policy Statement Single Integrated Assessment
	Enc. 1 for Pay Policy Statement

	14 Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales Draft Report 2020/21
	Enc. 1 Covering letter from IRPW Chair
	Enc. 2 Draft Cost of Care Policy

	15 Planning Protocol
	Planning Protocol

	16 Consultation Draft Llangattock Conservation Area Review
	Enc. 1 for Consultation Draft Llangattock Conserveration Area Reveiw


